
Merton Council
Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel 
Date: 7 November 2018
Time: 7.15 pm
Venue: Committee Rooms C, D & E - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden 

SM4 5DX
AGENDA

Page Number

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 6

4 Merton Safeguarding Board Annual Report 7 - 72

5 School Provision Report 73 - 90

6 Cabinet Member Priorities - Verbal Update

 Councillor Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, Cabinet Member 
for Education; and 

 Councillor Kelly Braund, Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services

7 Department Update Report 91 - 94

8 Performance Monitoring Report 95 - 98

9 Work Programme 2018-19 99 - 112

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend.
The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m.

For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 4035 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Press enquiries: communications@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 
4093

Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer




Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel membership

Councillors: 
Sally Kenny (Chair)
Edward Gretton (Vice-Chair)
Agatha Mary Akyigyina OBE
Omar Bush
Edward Foley
Natasha Irons
Mark Kenny
Hayley Ormrod
Dennis Pearce
Eleanor Stringer
Substitute Members: 
Adam Bush
Pauline Cowper
Joan Henry
James Holmes
Dickie Wilkinson

Co-opted Representatives 
Colin Powell, Church of England diocese

Note on declarations of interest

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  members consider 
they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, 
they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item.  For further advice please 
speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance.

What is Overview and Scrutiny?
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes.

Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas:

 Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements.

 Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic.

 One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet. 

 Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan.

Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know. 

For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 4035 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny


This page is intentionally left blank



1

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL
9 OCTOBER 2018
(7.15 pm - 9.25 pm)
PRESENT Councillors Councillor Sally Kenny (in the Chair), 

Councillor Edward Gretton, Councillor Agatha Mary Akyigyina, 
Councillor Omar Bush, Helen Forbes, Councillor Natasha Irons, 
Councillor Mark Kenny, Councillor Hayley Ormrod, 
Councillor Dennis Pearce and Councillor Eleanor Stringer

Paul Angeli (Assistant Director Children's Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion), Mark Gwynne (Interim Head of Policy, Planning and 
Performance, Children, Schools and Families) and Rachael 
Wardell (Director, Children, Schools & Families Department)

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies for absence were received from Co-opted Member Emma Lemon, and 
Councillor Ed Foley. 

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as a true and accurate record

4 REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY (Agenda Item 4)

The Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care & Youth Inclusion gave an overview 
of the report which sets out the proposals  for adoption team’s functions to transfer 
into a regional adoption agency. He highlighted that Merton received an outstanding 
rating for their adoption service during the last Ofsted Inspection.  Adopt London 
South will be the largest regional adoption agency in the country, bringing together 
ten local authorities across South London. It will increase efficiency by bringing 
resources together, increase the number of potential adopters and adoptions whilst 
speeding up the process.  Southwark will lead service, and a local hub will be 
delivered from Merton. Delivery will begin by June 2019. 

Panel members asked if Merton will receive sufficient resources to meet the needs of 
local children and sought reassurance that it will not weaken the good work Merton 
has been doing. The Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care & Youth Inclusion 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

reported that Merton has a strong staff team and will build on existing good practice, 
at least two local authorities within Adopt South London have achieved outstanding 
Ofsted status.   The Director of Children and Families has experience of supporting 
this process. We need to hold the model to account and scrutiny will retain oversight 
of how it is performing. 

In response to questions it was reported that this process is not likely to result in any 
redundancies. 

Panel members asked to be kept informed as work progresses. 

RESOLVED

Progress with the Regional Adoption Agency to be included in the department update 
report. 

5 CABINET MEMBER PRIORITIES - VERBAL UPDATE (Agenda Item 5)

The cabinet member for Education gave an update of her priorities highlighting the 
following; 

Cricket green expansion - Cabinet approval has been granted 

Harris academy will go to planning in November – a water main has been identified, 
which may result in some short delays as the plans for the site need to be re-drawn.

Stanford School has become an Academy - The academy will work closely with the 
council.

In response to questions the Cabinet member reported that in regards to concerns 
about air pollution next to Harris Academy, the Mayor of London team is working with 
the council and taking advice from them. Harris has reported that the entrance of 
school will have a line of trees and they will use filters in the building to try and 
mitigate the problem. 

A panel member highlighted that A-level results in Merton are only slightly above 
national average. It was agreed that this could require further scrutiny although it is 
important not to become fixated on league tables which can disadvantage those who 
do meet strict criteria to study A- levels. This in turn could impact their chances of 
gaining a place at university. 

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services gave an overview of her priorities 
highlighting the following;

Page 2

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


3

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

The department is working on implementing the recommendations from the recent 
Ofsted inspection including developing health histories which are of practical use to 
care leavers.

 A key priority is to ensure the voice of children and young people is included in a 
wide range of consultations across the borough, not just those which directly affect 
their services. For example they will be consulted on the Local Plan.

6 DEPARTMENT UPDATE REPORT (Agenda Item 6)

The Director of Children Schools and Families gave an overview of the report.
A panel member asked about the implications of the planning application delay at 
Harris Wimbledon and if there is a contingency plan in place. The Director of Children 
Schools and Families said they can still deliver the site on time and this is under 
constant monitoring.  As a last resort they will have to look for additional space on 
another site. 

A panel member sought reassurance that the school expansion at Cricket Green will 
not reduce the quality of the school. The Director of Children Schools and Families 
said she is absolutely committed to keeping standards.
A panel member asked for the knife crime action plan to be brought to a future 
meeting.

RESOLVED
Knife crime action plan to be brought to a future panel meeting

7 PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT (Agenda Item 7)

The Director of Children Schools and Families said some performance targets need 
to be understood within a range of expected outcomes rather than a  numerical figure 
as this is not in the interest of young people. For example, children on a child 
protection plan cannot be determined by a percentage but must be driven by the 
needs of individual children.

The Panel agreed that the performance leads will play an important role in analysing 
the data set to ensure we maintain high standards in every area of children’s 
services.

The Chair invited the Performance leads Councillor Hayley Ormrod and Councillor 
Eleanor Stringer to comment on the current data set.

It was reported that each of the indicators had been considered in fine detail and as a 
result some changes had been made which are listed in the report. 

Page 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


4

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

In response to a question the Director of Children Schools and Families reported that 
most data issues with Mosaic have been resolved. 

RESOLVED
The Chair thanked the performance leads and officers for their work.

8 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE PLAN (Agenda Item 8)

The Director of Children Schools and Families gave an overview of the report, 
highlighting that young people had identified outcomes which are important to them

A panel member said it is important to identify activities for older teenagers.

RESOLVED

Officers were thanked for their report.

9 CARE LEAVER ACCOMMODATION REFERENCE (Agenda Item 9)

The Director of Children Schools and Families said the report contained an update   
following the actions that have been put in place.

A panel member asked how antisocial behaviour is being tackled. The Assistant 
Director for Children's Social Care and Youth Inclusion said  those who work with 
vulnerable young people recognise they may have had behaviour issues in the past 
and need support. In rare cases young people or may have to elsewhere to more 
supported housing provision. 

A panel member asked how the council is encouraging independence, the Assistant 
Director of Children's Social Care and Youth Inclusion said young people are moved 
towards independence from the age of 14 as from age 21 young people receive a 
reduced level of service from the local authority.

A panel member asked if Merton owns the SIA’s and housing of multiple occupation. 
The Assistant Director of Children's Social Care and Youth Inclusion, said we do not 
own these properties, they are provided by contractors. Accommodation is a 
challenging environment given the high property prices in London and the South 
East, with lowest costs only in other parts of the country.

10 CHILDREN'S AND FAMILIES USER VOICE FRAMEWORK - END OF TERM 
REVIEW. (Agenda Item 10)

Page 4

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


5

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

The Director of Children Schools and Families said the report contained examples of 
young people being involved and experiences of children and young people, care 
leavers from the year 2017-18. 

A panel member highlighted that if 94% of children felt safe in their home, what 
support and provision is available to the others. The Director of Children Schools and 
Families said some will be known to children’s services and will be receiving support 
and others will not.

A panel member asked if every care leaver has the opportunity to give feedback. The 
Assistant Director of Children's Social Care and Youth Inclusion said there is duty 
upon local authorities to listen to looked after children, and listen to the views of 
children.  There is a six monthly process review for those in care who also have 
access to advocacy. There is a bright spot report on care leavers which will be 
shared with this panel in due course.
A panel member asked if there is waiting list for Child Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS). The Assistant Director of Children's Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion said there is a good offer in Merton as we have our own CAMHS team, 
however there is diagnosis waiting time for Autistic Spectrum Disorder.

RESOLVED
Officers were thanked for their report

11 SCRUTINY REVIEW: CHILDREN'S MENTAL HEALTH TASK GROUP - 
UPDATE REPORT (Agenda Item 11)

The Task Group Chair , Councillor Natasha Irons, gave an overview of the report 
highlighting they had gathered evidence from speaking to CAMHS and 
commissioners within the council however they are still to refine the scope of the 
review and determine their terms of reference.  

Panel members suggested the review could look at good practice in schools and how 
parents are involved within CAMHS services. Councillor Irons reported that speaking 
to parents will be a priority for the task group. 

There needs to be one process for commissioning a whole system approach setting 
out how it all work together and is joined up, so can children access themselves 
without going through a professional.

Councillor Ormrod highlighted that the task group could also identify any additional 
areas that could be included in the performance monitoring data set.

RESOLVED
The Chair thanked the task group for their work.  

Page 5

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


6

All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

12 WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 (Agenda Item 12)

A panel member asked for a greater focus on schools and education as most of the 
future agenda items relate to children’s services. 

Councillor Agatha Akiyigina said she is the chair of the School Standards Panel and 
they visit schools, and meet with head teachers and they are subject to rigorous 
scrutiny. This Panel receives the school standards report.  
It was agreed to provide the panel with details of school standards membership.

RESOLVED

Panel to receive details of the membership of the School Standards Panel.

Page 6

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


Page 1 of 2

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 7th November 2018
Wards: All wards

Subject:  Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual 
Report 2017-18

Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families 
Department

Lead member: Cllr Kelly Braund, Cabinet Member for Children Services
Contact officer: Mark Gwynne, Interim Head of Policy, Planning and Performance

Recommendations: 
A.     Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report provides members of the panel with an overview of performance of the 
Merton Safeguarding Children Board for the year 2017-18 as contained within the 
annual report.

2 DETAILS

2.1 The report, contained as Appendix 1, presents an annual update on what is going well, 
the key challenges and the actions that we will take to address these challenges.  The 
vision of the MSCB is that the Board works to ensure that Everyone in Merton does 
Everything they can to ensure that Every Child is Safe, Supported and Successful. This 
annual report is an evaluation of our progress towards achieving this aim as well as an 
assessment of the overall impact of the Board especially with regards to our three key 
priorities.

2.2 This report presents activity and performance data from 2017/18 around the identified 
priorities of: 

 Think Family – to support children and adults in our most vulnerable families to 
reduce risk and ensure improved outcomes.

 Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents – adolescence is a time of significant 
change for all young people.

 Early Help – To develop an early help system that is responsive and effectively 
prevents escalation of concerns. 

2.3 These three priorities for the MSCB are underpinned by the cross-cutting theme of 
tackling Neglect.

2.4 The report also presents the review of the Merton Child, Young Person and Family 
Well-being Model, following its refresh in 2017, with the updated model being intended 
to better reflects the Board’s “Think Family” priority.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 2

2.5 Think Family was the focus for the Board’s annual conference in March 2018, which 
was held jointly with the Safeguarding Adults Board under the banner “No Wrong 
Door”.  The conference achieved a very high attendance across a range of partners, 
with several sessions supporting the embedding of the Think Family approach through 
different aspects of service provision.

2.6 The Business Plan also recognises the achievements of the MSCB through the Ofsted 
Single Inspection in June 2017, where the Safeguarding Children’s Board was 
recognised as being Outstanding, with particular comments including “It is highly 
effective in holding agencies to account for their individual safeguarding arrangements 
in the welfare and protection of children”.  There were no recommendations made for 
further improvement.

2.7 The main challenge for 2018/19 is the development of future partnership arrangements 
for the successor to the MSCB, building on the Outstanding Ofsted rating and seeking 
to maximise opportunities to improve engagement and ownership across all statutory 
and named partners, in spite of growing resource challenges and changing partner 
boundaries.

3. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
3.1 No specific implications from this report. 

4. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
4.1 No specific implications from this report. 

5. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

5.1 No specific implications from this report 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
6.1 No specific implications from this report. 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
7.1 No specific implications from this report.

8. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

8.1 Appendix 1 – Annual Report of the Merton Safeguarding Children Board 2017/18.

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1 None

Page 8



Annual report of the
Merton Safeguarding Children Board
2017/18

Page 9



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/182

Contents

1.0 
Chair’s Introduction by Keith Makin  
Independent Chair  ..................................................................  4

2.0 
Progress of MSCB Plan 2016–2017  .............................  8

3.0 
Local context and need of the childhood 
population for Merton .......................................................... 14

3.1  Merton the Place  ....................................................... 14

4.0 
Merton’s Children in Need, Children with a 
Protection Plan and those Looked After ...............  17

4.1.1  Children In Need  .......................................................  17

4.1.2 Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan .... 17 

4.2.1 Looked After Children  ............................................ 18

4.3 Children at Risk of Sexual Exploitation  ..........  21

4.4  Children Missing from Home and School  ..... 23

4.5 Prevent  .......................................................................... 26

4.6 Female Genital Mutilation  .................................... 26

5.0 
Statutory and Legislative Context  ............................  27

6.0 
MSCB Inter-relationships and  
Influence with Key Partners  ........................................... 29

7.0 
MSCB Sub-Groups  ................................................................  30

7.1 Quality Assurance Sub-Group  ..........................  30

7.2 Promote and Protect Young People  

Sub-Group ...................................................................  30

7.3 Learning and Development Sub-Group  ........ 31

7.4 The Policy Sub-Group  ..........................................  34

7.5 CDOP  ............................................................................  34

7.6 Youth Crime Executive Board  ........................... 35

7.7 Violence Against Women and Girls  ................ 39

7.8 MASH Strategic Board  .........................................  40

7.9 MSCB Structure and Effectiveness of  

the MSCB .....................................................................  40

7.10 MSCB Budget ............................................................. 42

2

Page 10



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 3

8.0 
Sub-Group and Task and Finish Group  
Summary Reports/Effectiveness  ..............................  43

8.1 Harmful Sexual Behaviour Task and Finish 

Group  ............................................................................  43

8.2 CSE Protocol and CSE Strategy Task and 

Finish Group  ..............................................................  43

8.3 Mental Health Protocol Task and Finish  

Group .......................................................................... 44

8.4 The Young Carers Strategy Task and Finish 

Group  ..............................................................................44

9.0 
Agency Effectiveness in Safeguarding –  
reports from Key Agencies  ...........................................  45

9.1 Section 11  .....................................................................  45

9.1.1 Schools  ........................................................................  48

Ofsted inspections rated good or better .................48

9.2 CSF Department  .....................................................  48

9.3  Acute Trusts  ..............................................................  48

9.4 Community and Housing Department –  

LB Merton  ...................................................................  49

9.5 Corporate Services, HR LB Merton  ................  49

9.6 Metropolitan Police/Probation/Cafcass  ......  49

10.0 
Views of Children, Young People  
and the Community  ............................................................  50

11.0 
Conclusions and Priorities  
for 2018–2019 Business Year  ......................................... 53

Appendices  ................................................................................ 55

Contact details  ........................................................................ 63

3

Page 11



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/184

2017-2018 has been a year of progress and 
transition. In June and July 2017 Merton 
Safeguarding Children Board (MSCB) was 
inspected by the Office for Standards in 
Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted). 
As you may be aware, the Single Inspection 
Framework is the most rigorous and forensic 
examination of children’s services and the work 
of Local Safeguarding Children Boards. Over a 
period of 4 weeks in June and July 2017, a team 
of 7 Ofsted inspectors, 2 Data Analysts and 1 
Quality Assurance Manager inspected the work 
of the Children’s Social Care and the Merton 
Safeguarding Children Board. The team:

 ■ Interviewed 206 staff and partners

 ■ Tracked and audited 162 cases 

 ■ Requested and reviewed 429 documents

 ■ Observed or led a range of meetings and 
focus groups. 

 
Inspectors found that:

Merton’s Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(MSCB) is outstanding. It is highly effective in 
holding agencies to account for their individual 
safeguarding arrangements in the welfare and 
protection of children.

Inspectors noted that:

There is a sustained commitment to and focus 
on the delivery of the board’s safeguarding 
priorities, including families in which adult 
mental health, neglect, alcohol, drugs and 
domestic violence feature in children’s lives. 
The safeguarding needs of children pervade the 
board’s work and business and subgroup plans.

In March 2018, after almost 10 years of dedicated 
service to Merton’s Children, Schools and Families, 
our Director, Yvette Stanley, was recruited to 
serve as the National Director of Children’s Social 
Care for Ofsted. Yvette has many achievements 
to celebrate, most notably Merton’s Children’s 
services being rated good with outstanding 
features at its recent Ofsted inspection and 
being the highest in the country for progress 

1.0
Chair’s Introduction

in secondary schools. Yvette will be missed but 
she can be proud of the legacy of a Children’s 
Schools and Families Department, partners and 
stakeholders, who place vulnerable children and 
their families at the very centre of all we do.

We are grateful to Paul Angeli, Assistant Director 
for Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion and 
Jane McSherry, Assistant Director of Education 
who both served as the acting Director of 
Children’s Schools and Families until May 2018, 
when we were joined by Rachael Wardell. Rachael 
comes from West Berkshire where she served as 
the Corporate Director for Communities for West 
Berkshire Council, Rachael brings a great deal 
of invaluable experience to Merton. Her career 
to date includes eight years in local government 
starting as assistant director in Wokingham 
Borough Council children’s services and early 
intervention. Prior to that she spent seven years at 
Ofsted, where she was responsible for children’s 
policy projects in early years and social care and 
an earlier seven years at the Legal Aid Board.

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 received 
Royal Assent in April 2017. The Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 (the Act) replaces Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) with new 
local safeguarding arrangements, led by three 
safeguarding partners (local authorities, chief 
officers of police, and clinical commissioning 
groups). It also places a duty on child death 
review partners (local authorities and clinical 
commissioning groups) to review the deaths 
of children normally resident in the local area 
– or if they consider it appropriate, for those 
not normally resident in the area. The Board is 
working with partners to determine the future 
constitution and structure of the safeguarding 
partnership. A proposal will come to the Board 
in September 2018 and will go out to wider 
consultation, with a view to seeking approval for 
the new arrangements in January 2019. The plan 
will be for the LSCB to be dissolved on 31st March 
2019 and the new safeguarding partnership to be 
established on 1st April 2019.

We are pleased to say that the Board remains 
on a journey of continuous improvement that 
seeks to place children, the families and the 

Page 12



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 5

practitioners who support them at the very heart 
of what we do. The vision of the MSCB is that the 
Board works to ensure that everyone in Merton 
does everything they can to ensure that every 
child is safe, supported and successful. This annual 
report is an evaluation of our progress towards 
achieving this vision as well as an assessment of 
the overall impact of the Board especially with 
regards to our four key priorities.

In November 2017 a seven year old Merton child 
was tragically murdered by her father. The Board 
took the decision to commission a Learning and 
Improvement Review (LiR) of the circumstances 
surrounding this event. This case did not meet the 
statutory threshold for a SCR; however, the Board 
considered that there may be some significant 
learning for the multi-agency safeguarding system.

The Board, in common with all LSCBs, faces the 
challenge for all partners of delivering high quality 
services within the context of increasing demand 
and reduced resources. We have worked hard 
with partners to prioritise where limited resources 
can be targeted in order to have the maximum 
impact on the quality of safeguarding across 
the system. This report demonstrates how much 
can be achieved when we work together, both 
as individual agencies and in partnership with 

each other. This report shows that a more robust 
and rigorous focus on quality assurance is now 
embedded and this is continuing to improve the 
way that young children are protected and their 
well-being is promoted. 

The Board’s strengths are identified as:

 ■ The MSCB is a mature partnership that is 
open to learning and challenge

 ■ Senior representation and engagement 
from agencies

 ■ A relentless focus on working together to 
keep children safe

 ■ A strong performance focus including the 
annual QA process

 ■ Annual conference and comprehensive 
training programme

 ■ An improved connection between the 
Board and frontline practitioners which has 
and will continue to improve; this includes 
the Board’s responsiveness to and influence 
on multi-agency frontline practice

 ■ The Board has clear priorities and the work 
programme has been aligned to support 
their delivery. 

Page 13



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/186

Our agreed areas of focus during 2017-2018 
included:

1. Managing the arrangements for the transition 
from Merton Local Safeguarding Children 
Board to the Merton Safeguarding Children 
Partnership

In 2019 the Board will see the dissolution of 
LSCBs and the establishment of Safeguarding 
Partnerships. In addition to reviewing the 
progress that the Board has made to date, we 
will need to develop clear plans about the future 
shape and direction of the Board.

The MSCB is Outstanding with no recommendations 
regarding improvements. Building from this secure 
base, the Board has agreed not to radically change 
its constitution but to use the Children and Social 
Care Act 2017 as an opportunity to strengthen 
our partnership to ensure that safeguarding 
children remains a priority for all partners in our 
safeguarding system and to ensure the most 
effective representation from statutory and other 
key partners in the work of safeguarding Merton’s 
children and families and promoting their welfare.

At the Board’s Away Day it was agreed that a 
task and finish group would be established to 
propose the arrangements for the establishment 
of Safeguarding Partnership. A task and finish 
group has been appointed by the Board to 
explore options for the new Partnership and 
make recommendations.

2. Think Family – to support children and adults 
in our most vulnerable families to reduce risk 
and ensure improved outcomes. 

A great deal of work has been undertaken 
to embed Think Family as an approach to 
interventions with children and families across both 
adults and children’s services. We are making good 
progress in ensuring that our partnerships enable 
the most vulnerable families to be supported; that 
vulnerable parents are enabled to care for their 
children and children receive the care they need 
to thrive and achieve their potential. Evidence 
from local and national research tells us that our 
most vulnerable parents/families are those who:

 ■ Experience poor mental health 

 ■ Struggle with substance misuse and 
addiction 

 ■ Are affected by domestic abuse 

 ■ Are parents with learning difficulties that 
may affect their ability to respond to the 
changing needs of their children.

 
The evidence nationally and locally also shows that 
vulnerable families are best supported when there is 
effective joint working between adult and children 
facing services. When professionals understand the 
underlying causes of issues like neglect and other 
forms of abuse and offer effective support early 
before these problems get worse.

Building on this work, the Board is seeking 
to drive improvements in our practice with 
vulnerable families so that stigma is reduced and 
families with poor mental health and substance 
misuse issues will feel confident in seeking help 
and support. We are also able to assure ourselves 
that practitioners are supported with the skills and 
confident to engage with all families including:

 ■ Families who are difficult to engage

 ■ Families who are challenging (for a variety 
of reasons including social class – evidence 
from practice and SCRs show that affluent 
families can pose distinct challenges 
to multi-agency safeguarding systems 
resulting in harm to children; families who 
present as ‘powerful’ etc.).

 
The Board is also seeking to further highlight the 
important role of schools, educational and early 
years’ establishments, as a critical safeguarding 
partner.

3. Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents – 
adolescence is a time of significant change 
for all young people. 

We know that, for some young people, 
adolescence is a time of particular vulnerability. 
We are determined to support adolescents who 
are at risk of:

Page 14



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 7

 ■ Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

 ■ Children who go missing from home/
school/care 

 ■ Children and young people who are at risk 
radicalisation and violent extremism 

 ■ Children at risk of serious youth violence 
and gangs

 ■ Children at risk of criminal and other forms 
of exploitation including county lines, peer 
on peer abuse and harmful sexual behaviour

 ■ Self-harm and poor mental health para-
suicide.

 
The Board is seeking to develop a strategic 
response to Contextual Safeguarding. In particular, 
we are seeking to develop a coordinated response 
to overlapping forms of adolescent risk/harm 
which occurs outside of the family home in spaces 
such as the neighbourhood, school, community 
centres and housing estates. 

The Board would also like to be more systematic 
regarding its work in listening to children and 
allowing them to shape the services that are 
provided to them. The Merton User Voice Strategy 
outlines the variety of ways in which the views 
and opinions of children and young people are 
considered. The Board would like this to be more 
coordinated so that these views and opinions 
can more strongly influence the ways we support 
families and keeps children safe, so impact of 
our work with children, young people and their 
families can be measured more effectively.

4. Early Help – To develop an early help system 
that is responsive and effectively prevents 
escalation of concerns. 

Merton has reviewed its Children Young People 
and Families Well-Being Model. We are now 
reviewing our Early Help (EH) and Preventative 
work; in particular, we are exploring models for 
coordinating preventative and early help across 
the well-being model. As part of our review we will:

 ■ Consider the interface between our MASH 
and EH arrangements

 ■ Review our service offer at all levels of 
the Merton Well Being Model and Engage 
partners in discussion on thresholds, clarify 
Step-Up-Step-Down processes and the 
tools to support early help assessments 
including the Common And Shared 
Assessment tool and intervention (Signs of 
Safety/Signs of Well-Being)

 ■ Review the arrangements for the quality 
assurance of EH and Preventative work.

 
Addressing the incidence and impact of neglect is 
a cross-cutting theme that runs across the work 
of the Board and each of our priorities.

The questions that the Board is continuously 
seeking to answer are:

 ■ Is there evidence that the right standards, 
policies, guidance, procedures, protocols 
are in place?

 ■ Is there good evidence that these are being 
implemented and applied consistently?

 ■ What impact/difference does this make in 
keeping Merton children and young people 
safe from harm and ensuring that their well-
being is supported?

 
This report shows how the work we are doing as 
the MSCB seeks to answer these questions. 

Finally, I would like to thank all of the MSCB 
partner agencies for their hard work and 
continued commitment to making a difference for 
Merton’s children, young people and their families.

Keith Makin
MSCB Chair
July 2018

Page 15



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/188

As part of our commitment to continuous 
improvement, the Board took the decision to 
extend the three key priorities from 2016-2017 
to run from 2016-2019; as such, we are half way 
through a four-year programme. This section is a 
progress update regarding what has been achieved 
so far as well as an indication regarding the work 
to be done in relation to the Business Plan.

2.1 Think Family –Supporting families with 
particular vulnerabilities

2.1 a. Embedding the ‘Think Family’ Approach 
across the multi-agency partnership

I. The appointment of the Think Family 
Coordinator and the establishment of a Think 
Family Strategic Group

In order to ensure that the ‘Think Family’ 
approach becomes the normal way in which we 
work with children and families, a Think Family 
Coordinator has been appointed. The role of the 
Think Family Coordinator is to work with both the 
children’s and adults’ workforce to facilitate joint 
understanding and effective joint working.

2.0
Progress of MSCB Business Plan 2016–17 

The Think Family Coordinator attends the Merton 
Safeguarding Children Board meetings and sits 
on the Policy Sub-Group.

We are beginning to see evidence of a shared 
understanding of roles and responsibilities; we are 
also seeing more effective joint working between 
adults and children’s services. We want to see this 
embedded across the system.

II. The Mental Health Protocol

The Board has reviewed and revised a Multi-Agency 
Mental Health Protocol. This document was drafted 
jointly by Merton Safeguarding Children Board 
and Merton Safeguarding Adults Board, which 
includes the Clinical Commissioning Group, South 
West London St Georges Mental Health Trust. The 
protocol sets out: 

 ■ Key questions that all practitioners working 
with adults who have mental health 
problems must ask in their work, where 
their patients or service users are parents 
or are in contact with children 

 ■ Clear guidance about the pathway to 
obtaining additional support for the 
children or young people who need early 
help or safeguarding 

 ■ Guidance for the children’s workforce about 
when to access additional support for the 
adults who are experiencing mental health 
problems. 

 
The multi-agency Protocol to meet the needs of 
children and unborn children whose parents or 
carers have mental health problems was launched 
at the joint Merton Safeguarding Children Board, 
Children’s Schools and Families and Adult Social 
Care conference’ in March 2018. The protocol is 
supported by an implementation plan which is 
monitored by the Policy Sub-Group.

Page 16



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 9

III. Domestic Abuse Guidance

The Board has also approved multi-agency 
guidance to address domestic violence and 
abuse. The aims of the guidance are:

1. To protect the child/ren

2. To support the victims/survivors to assist 
them to protect themselves and their  
child/ren; and 

3. To hold the abusive partner accountable 
for the violence and provide them with 
appropriate support and opportunities to 
change. 

The guidance is for use by all professionals (the 
term includes qualified and unqualified managers, 
staff and volunteers) who have contact with 
children and with adults who are parents / carers, 
and who therefore have responsibilities for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.

The guidance includes violence/abuse between 
adults (in both heterosexual and same-sex 
relationships), child to parent violence/abuse 
and teenage relationship abuse. The guidance 
also includes coercive control as a form of 
domestic abuse.

It is expected that protocols for supporting 
parents engaged in substance misuse and 
parents with disabilities will be approved by 31st 
March 2019. This will complete our Think Family 
suite of protocols.

 
2.2 Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents

2.2 a. CSE

Merton Safeguarding Children’s Board’s Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Strategy was launched 
in 2013, refreshed in 2015 and again in 2017. These 
reviews were supported by intelligence from our 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 2014 peer 
review on CSE and were prompted by changes 
in the definition of CSE and the appointment of a 
CSE Lead in 2017. 

Our strategy provides clear and practical guidance 
for social workers and other practitioners 
dealing with cases where there is suspected and 
confirmed child sexual exploitation. 

The MSCB Sub-Group ‘Promote and Protect 
Young People’ has received papers outlining the 
rise in criminal exploitation and this is identified as 
being related to the low numbers of boys referred 
for CSE. Therefore, a proposal is being drafted for 
a broader ‘Exploitation Strategy’ and process. 

Over the past 3 years we have had an average 
of 33 referrals to our Multi Agency Sexual 
Exploitation Panel. Notably the last year (2017/18) 
has seen a significant decrease in referrals. 
Coupled with an increase of cases closed (placed 
on ‘ICE’) the number of CSE open cases at the 
end of March 2018 was only 13 children.

Page 17



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1810

2.2 b. Self-harm and Adolescent well-being

In 2016 the MSCB approved a multi-agency Self-
Harm Protocol for professionals working with 
children and young people who harm themselves. 
The Board will be refreshing this protocol in 
2018-2019. This will be set within the framework 
of a strategy focused on supporting adolescent 
well-being and preventing suicide. The MSCB 
will work with the Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Service’s (CAMHs) Transformation Board 
to develop a multi-agency strategic response to 
promoting adolescent mental health and well-
being as well as developing a suicide prevention 
strategy.

2.2. c. High risk Adolescents

We are continuing our focus on supporting 
high risk adolescents. High risk adolescents are 
children and young people who have had a range 
of adverse childhood experiences including 
neglect, physical and emotional abuse; this 
includes being exposed to domestic violence 
and abuse, living with a parent with poor mental 
health or living with a parent with significant 
substance misuse. High risk adolescents include:

 ■ Young people who regularly go missing 
from home, school or care

 ■ Young people who are at risk of criminal 
exploitation from gangs

 ■ Young people who are at risk of sexual 
exploitation

 ■ Young people who are known to the Youth 
Justice System

 ■ Young people who misuse substances such 
as alcohol or drugs.

 
The Board has strengthened the arrangements 
for interviewing children and young people who 
return home after a period of going missing. 
We have reviewed our CSE Protocol and 
refreshed our CSE Strategy. In addition, we have 
approved a Harmful Sexual Behaviour Protocol 
and approved an Online Safety Strategy. These 
strategies, protocols and guidance documents 
support multi-agency practitioners with the 

knowledge and understanding of these issues 
and outline a clear procedure for responding to 
young people who are exposed to these risks. 
Managers and practitioners are also supported 
with materials which can be used to brief staff so 
that the guidance is understood and consistently 
implemented.

The MSCB Training Programme provides briefings 
on CSE, harmful sexual behaviour, working with 
young people at risk of being involved in gangs 
and young people who are at risk of criminal 
and other forms of exploitation. The programme 
includes the following training:

 ■ The impact of domestic abuse on children 
and young people 

 ■ The impact of parental mental illness on 
children and young people 

 ■ Working with children and families affected 
by substance misuse 

 ■ Merton gangs (girls and boys) and child 
sexual exploitation 

 ■ Substance misuse and young people 

 ■ Sexual Health and Relationships Education 

 ■ Talking to young people about drugs, 
alcohol and sexual health, early 
identification of risk and building resilience 
by earlier interventions. 

 
2.2. d. Contextual Safeguarding

Throughout 2017-2018, the MSCB commissioned a 
Contextual Safeguarding audit. The first phase of 
this audit process was a paper audit to: 

 ■ review all relevant strategic documents, 
operating protocols, assessment tools and 
guidance documents currently used to 
respond to peer-on-peer abuse in Merton 

 ■ Observe relevant multi-agency strategic 
and operational meetings 

 ■ Meet with practitioners and young people. 

 
There is a contextual safeguarding Project Plan 
in place which outlines how Merton will establish 

Page 18



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 11

clear governance and strategic oversight of 
this work. The plan sets out how practice 
will be observed and how practitioners and 
young people will be engaged in shaping our 
response. The findings of this work will then 
be disseminated. The MSCB and partners will 
then determine how our response to contextual 
safeguarding will be developed and applied 
across the safeguarding partnership. 

2.3 Early Help

The MSCB is committed to ensuring the provision 
of high quality early help and preventative 
services. The Ofsted inspection of services for 
children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers and review of the 
effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board found that:

Children are protected through an outstanding 
early help offer.1 

Inspectors also noted that: 

High-quality early help assessments help to 
identify needs, leading to children and families 
benefiting from a range of integrated early 
help support services.2 

Inspectors reported that: 

The Merton Child and Young Person Well-
Being Model guides threshold decisions and is 
supported by a well-embedded wide range of 
integrated early help services, commissioned 
and brokered by the Children’s Trust partnership. 
Thresholds are understood well by partner 
agencies and applied appropriately, resulting in 
effective and timely interventions for children.

The training and engagement with early help 
partners contribute to very strong early help 
assessments, which are undertaken by a 
wide range of partners. This ensures timely 
identification of need, with decision-making 
and work overseen by a social work qualified 
team manager. Effective intervention at an 
early stage is having a positive impact on 
reducing the number of children who require 
a more specialist service. Families benefit from 
prompt support from a range of innovative, 
high-quality early help services, such as a 

1 The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services 
and Skills (Ofsted) (2017) Inspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, children looked after and 
care leavers and Review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.

2 Ibid.
Page 19



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1812

dedicated victim support service for children, 
and mental health practitioners in schools. 
Parents spoke very highly of the early help 
services available and the positive difference 
that they are making for children.

If risks to children change, they experience a 
relatively seamless transition between early 
help and statutory services. Step-up and 
step-down processes are well considered and 
purposeful, with the vast majority evidencing 
a clear rationale and decision-making. This 
ensures that children and their families are 
receiving the right service at the right level of 
intervention to meet their needs.3 

Although Merton’s early help offer is judged as 
outstanding, we are not complacent and we 
believe that our early help and preventative 
services would be strengthened by greater 
coordination and further developing quality 
assurance processes; we would also like to ensure 
that there is an early help adaptation of the 
Merton Social Work Practice model which would 
include developing an early help version of the 
Signs of Safety approach to working with children 
and their families. In order to achieve these aims, 
an Early Help Task and Finish group has been 
formed to explore models of coordinated early 
help. The task and finish groups include senior 

leaders across health, education, children’s social 
care, the police and the voluntary sector.

 
2.4 The MSCB’s Work on Neglect

Neglect remains one of our cross-cutting 
priorities. There is evidence from the numbers of 
referrals that we are getting better at recognising 
incidents of neglect. However, we want to ensure 
that as a safeguarding system we: 

a. Have a shared understanding of neglect in 
all its forms

b. Are able to recognise and intervene in cases 
of neglect

c. Are able to raise community awareness and 
understanding

d. Keep a clear focus on adolescent neglect

3 The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services 
and Skills (Ofsted) (2017) Inspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, children looked after and 
care leavers and Review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.

Page 20



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 13

2.4.1 Neglect Audit

In 2017, the Quality Assurance Sub-Group 
conducted a multi-agency audit of 3 cases. The 
audit was arranged around the journey of the 
child through the child protection system and 
included:

 ■ a Child in Need Case 

 ■ a case where the child was subject to a 
Child Protection Plan and 

 ■ a case of a Looked After Child.

 
The audit found aspects of good practice 
including:

 ■ good child centred work

 ■ good recording of actions and decisions

 ■ evidence of a good understanding of the 
types of neglect

 ■ good multi-agency communication and 
information sharing.

The audit also identified some areas for further 
development:

 ■ There is a need for more effective multi-
agency communication especially with 
Early Years settings

 ■ In complex cases, where parents have 
multiple needs and vulnerabilities, there 
is a need for practitioners to focus on the 
safeguarding of children whilst working 
with others to support the needs of parents

 ■ We need to get better at engaging with 
fathers in child protection, especially in 
cases where the behaviour of the father 
places children at risk

 ■ Effective early intervention in cases of 
neglect to prevent neglected younger 
children becoming neglected adolescents 
and subject to a wider range of adolescent 
risks and vulnerability.

2.4.2 Neglect Toolkit

The MSCB’s Training Officer is an internationally 
recognised expert on the issue of neglect 
and has worked with the Learning and 
Development and Policy Sub-Groups in order 
to develop a Neglect Toolkit. The Toolkit is 
aimed at supporting practitioners in the early 
identification and assessment of neglect and in 
recognising the impact of the cumulative harm 
caused by neglectful experiences on children and 
young people.

The following three principles should guide the 
use of the Toolkit:

1. Focus on the lived experiences of children 
and young people

2. Adopt a holistic approach based on the 
domains of the Assessment Framework

3. Multi-agency approach to promote timely, 
evidence-based information sharing 
amongst practitioners and volunteers.

 
The Toolkit has been designed to consider 
different aspects of neglect experienced by 
children and young people, and includes a section 
on the parents and family history and functioning. 
It is intended to be used for children and young 
people at all stages of the journey of the child, 
from pre-birth assessments, pre-school and 
school ages to adolescents aged 18 years. 

The Toolkit is to be used by all practitioners and 
volunteers working with children and their families 
in statutory and voluntary organisations. It is 
intended to offer practitioners the opportunity 
to evidence base and rate their concerns to help 
make a judgement as part of an early help or 
statutory assessment approach. 

The Toolkit was piloted between March 2018 and 
July 2018. An evaluation report will come to the 
Board in September 2018.

Page 21



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1814

3.1 Merton the place

Merton has a total population of 209,400 
including 48,200 children and young people 
aged 0-18 (Census 2011) between 2012 and 
2016 the 0-18 population increased by 4%. This 
growth is predicted to increase by between 4% 
and 6% by 2020, based respectively on the GLA 
population projections for its Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment and its alternative 
trend forecasts, which take additional factors 
into account. Within the whole child and young 
people’s population increase, there are variations 
for different age groups. Between 2011 and 2020 
we can estimate the population (based on SHLAA 
2015) increases as follows:

 ■ Primary school children aged between  
5 and 10 will have increased by 20% 

 ■ Secondary school aged children aged  
11 to 15 will have increased by 13%. 

3.0
Local context and need of the childhood population for Merton4

4 Statistical information regarding the demographic profile of 
the Borough is based on the 2011 Census.

Most deprived 10%

10% to 20%

20% to 30%

30% to 40%

40% to 50%

50% to 60%

60% to 70%

70% to 80%

80% to 90%

Least deprived 10%

Raynes Park

Village

Wimbledon
Park

Colliers Wood

St Helier

Ravensbury

Cricket
Green

Figges
Marsh

Longthornton

Graveney

Lavender
Fields

Abbey

Trinity

Dundonald

Hillside

Pollards Hill
West Barnes

Lower Morden

Cannon Hill

Merton Park

Raynes Park

Village

Wimbledon
Park

Colliers Wood

St Helier

Ravensbury

Cricket
Green

Figges
Marsh

Longthornton

Graveney

Lavender
Fields

Abbey

Trinity

Dundonald

Hillside

Pollards Hill
West Barnes

Lower Morden

Cannon Hill

Merton Park

Historically there was a 40% net increase in 
births per year from 2,535 in 2002 to a peak 
of 3,507 in 2012 and is approximated at 3,178 
by 2020. This increase in births, together with 
other demographic factors such as migration of 
families into the borough, has already created 
the need for more school places, put pressure 
on early years and pre-school services, children’s 
social care and early intervention. 

East Merton currently has almost 17,800 5-17 year 
olds compared to 15,000 in west Merton. Both 
east and west Merton are predicted to show an 
increase in this age group by 2025 to 18,500 in 
the east and 15,600 in the west.

Predominantly suburban in character, Merton 
is divided into 20 wards and has three main 
town centres; Wimbledon, Mitcham and Morden. 
There are a number of pockets of deprivation 
within the borough mainly in the eastern wards 
and some smaller pockets in the central wards 

Merton Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 2015

Page 22



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 15

UK Indices of Deprivation

Greater London

Scilly

Most 
deprived 

10%

Least 
deprived 

10%

Page 23



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1816

(Mitcham and Morden towns). These wards 
have multiple deprivations, with high scores on 
income deprivation, unemployment and limited 
educational attainment. Five of Merton’s 20 wards 
are amongst the 30% most deprived areas across 
England for children. This means 37% of Merton 
school pupils are living in an area of deprivation 
(30% most deprived, IDACI 2015). Since 2010 we 
have seen an increase of 32% of children who are 
eligible for free school meals (2010, 2881 FSM 
children, 2016, 3817 FSM children).

35% of Merton’s total population is Black, Asian 
or Minority ethnic (BAME), this is expected to 
increase further to 39% by 2017. Pupils in Merton 
schools are more diverse still, with 67% from 
BAME communities, 44% with a first language 
which is not English, speaking over 120 languages 
(2016). The most prominent first languages for 
primary pupils apart from English are Tamil 7%, 
Polish 7% and Urdu 6%. 

The SEND resident population has increased 
by 16% between 2012 and 2016 (1078 CYP in 
2016). The number of pupils attending Merton 
mainstream (including Academies) and Special 
Schools with a Statement of SEN or EHC Plan 
has also increased significantly over the last four 
years. This cohort is growing at a faster rate than 
the Merton school population. The number of 
Merton pupils with a Statement of SEN or EHCP 
has grown over the last five years at a faster rate 
than London, Statistical Neighbours and National. 
As at January 2016 there were 1148 pupils 
attending Merton Schools with a Statement of 
SEN or EHCP.

Page 24



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 17

Table 1: Increases in CIN rate between 2011 and 2017

Table 2: Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan 

Year 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 SN 
2016-17

London 
2016-17

National 
2016-17

CIN Rate 336 355 338 411 287 311 308 330

Year 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 SN 
2016-17

London 
2016-17

National 
2016-17

Rate per 
10,000 37.9 40.3 38.8 29.9 27.2 45.4 36.72 43.3

4.0
Merton’s Children in Need, Children with a Protection Plan and 
those Looked After 

4.1.1 Children in Need

Merton’s Child in Need (CIN) rate per 10,000 
(2016-2017) is lower than the London average of 
308.1 and is also lower than the National average 
of 330.4. We are also lower than our statistical 
neighbours (SN) who are at 311.9. See table 1 
below.

4.1.2 Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan

Rates of Children subject to a Child Protection 
Plan in Merton in 2016-2017 remain lower than 
the London rate at 36.72; the Merton rate is 27.2. 
Merton is also lower than our statistical neighbours 
who are at 45.4. Please see table 2 below.

Nationally 3% of children were subject to a Child 
Protection Plan lasting for 2 years or more. The 
number of Merton children subject to a Child 
Protection Plan lasting 2 years or more is in line 
with the national averages.

Source: LAIT

Page 25



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1818

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Merton 31 34 34 35 33

London 54 54 52 51 45

National 60 60 60 60 62

Ethnic Group
Number 

LAC during 
2016-17

Percentage 
LAC during 

2016-17

Number 
LAC on

31st March

Percentage 
LAC on

31st March

Number 
of Care 
Leavers 
(S24)

Percentage 
of Care 
Leavers 
(S24)

Asian or Asian British 17 7% 10 6% 18 10%

Black or Black British 48 20% 33 21% 44 25%

Mixed Heritage 34 14% 22 14% 19 11%

White or White British 
(includes White Other 
and White Irish Traveller)

106 45% 70 45% 65 37%

Chinese 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Any Other Ethnic Group 29 12% 19 12% 32 18%

Not Obtained 1 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Refused 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

Table 3: Looked after children by 10,000 population

Table 4: Ethnic Group of Looked After Children

4.2.1 Looked After Children

At 31 March 2017, the looked after children rate 
per 10,000 of the population, aged under 18 was 
33.00. This is a slight decrease in rate from 35 in 
2016. Merton had 161 looked after young people. 
Similarly both London and national averages held 
a steady course at 51.0 and 60.0 respectively. 
Overall, Merton’s rate is lower than both national 
and London averages. 

Page 26



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 19

Table 6: Care Leavers in Touch

Table 5: Percentage of Looked After Children with Stability in their placement

Looked After Children with Stability in their 
placement

As at 31st March 2017, 71% of Children who had 
been looked after continuously for at least 2.5 
years, were living in the same placement for at 
least 2 years. This is an improvement on the 68% 
outturn in 2016 and places Merton slightly above 
national averages.

2012-13
(31st March)

2013-14
(31st March)

2014-15
(31st March)

2015-16
(31st March)

2016-17
(31st March)

Merton 64% 55% 54% 68% 71%

National 67% 67% 67% 68% 70%

2015-16 2016-17

Merton Number % Number %

Yes 132 89% 154 87%

No 3 2% 7 4%

Service No Longer Required 3 2% 14 8%

Young Person Refuses Contact 7 5% 2 1%

Young Person Returned Home 3 5 1 1%

Source: SSDA 903

Note: The percentage of Children Looked After aged under 16 at 31st March who had been looked after continuously for at least 
2.5 years, who were living in the same placement for at least 2 years, or are placed for adoption and their adoptive placement 
together with their previous placement last for at least 2 years.

Source: SSDA 903

Note: As a result of this increased focus and additional resource we have seen some improvement in respect of outcomes for 
young people in this area.

Page 27



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1820

Source: SSDA 903

Note: In 2014 the DfE extended the care leaver cohort to include 20 and 21 year olds. As a result, the figures for 2012-2013 include 
only to 19 year olds whilst the figures for 2014 - 2016 include Care Leavers of all ages.

Table 7: Percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training

2013
(31st March)

2014
(31st March)

2015
(31st March)

2016
(31st March)

2017
(31st March)

Merton 60.0% 47.0% 45% 66% 71%

SN 67.8% 55.15% 52.2% 50.10%

National 58% 45% 48% 49%

Key Information: Care Leavers 2016-17 

There were 161 Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 years 
old during 2016-17: 

 ■ 87% of Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 were in-
touch with Merton CSF (140 out of 161 Care 
Leavers) 

 ■ 54% of in-touch Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 
are using semi-independent provision (75 
out of 140) 

 ■ 95% of in-touch Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 
were residing in suitable accommodation 
at the point of contact (133 out of 140 in-
touch Care Leavers) 

 ■ Majority of in-touch 18 and 19 year old care 
leavers residing in 16+ Semi-Independent 
provision at point of contact.

71% of our care leavers are in education, 
employment or training (2015/16) this is a 
significant improvement on 2014/15, 45% and can 
be attributed to actions delivered against our 
Care Leavers Strategy. 95% of care leavers (aged 
19, 20, 21) were living in ‘suitable accommodation’ 
in 2016/17.

Page 28



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 21

4.3 Children at Risk of Sexual Exploitation

Over the past 3 years we have had an average 
of 33 referrals to our Multi-Agency Sexual 
Exploitation (MASE) Panel. Notably the last 
year (2017/18) has seen a significant decrease in 
referrals. Coupled with an increase of cases closed 
(placed on ‘ICE’) the number of CSE Open cases 
at the end of March 2018 was only 13 children. 

Numbers of referrals to MASE:

 ■ In 2015/16 referrals totalled 38 – total iced 
30, re-referrals 0

 ■ In 2016/17 referrals totalled 41 – total iced 
44, re-referrals 4

 ■ In 2017/18 referrals totalled 21 – total iced 
35, re-referrals 4.

 
The majority of referrals are girls with an average 
age of 14 years. 

 ■ 2015/16 average age 14 years, ranging from 
8 years to 17 years. 3 male

 ■ 2016/17 average age 14 years, ranging from 
9 years to 17 years, 2 male

 ■ 2017/18 average age 14 years, ranging from 
12 years to 17 years, 0 male

 ■ 46% of the children referred are White 
British (63 of 136)

 ■ 27% are Black British, Black African or Black 
Caribbean

 ■ 24% are Mixed or ‘other’. 

 
 
The most recent ‘Dashboard’ in regard to CSE 
was completed 30th September 2017. This 
outlines all those referred to MASE during 2017/18 
and of those referred (32 young people), Social 
Care’s involvement is outlined as follows:

 ■ 18.7% (n6) were Looked After

 ■ 18.7% (n6) were on a Child Protection Plan 

 ■ 21.8% (n7) were on a Child in Need Plan 

 ■ 0.31% (n1) was a Care Leaver.

Current open cases are tracked each month at 
the MASE meeting. 

Summary of CSE Activity in 2017-2018

 ■ A piece of joint work was specifically 
undertaken with a cohort of young people 
attending a local library where CSE 
concerns were raised among a number of 
other behavioural concerns. This involved 
collaboration with Participation Services, 
Catch 22, Mayor’s Office for Policing And 
Crime (MOPAC), VWAG Worker and the 
Library staff. This created a safe space 
for young people to develop trusting 
relationships with workers that could 
signpost them to relevant services.

 ■ Awareness raising and collaborative initiatives 
are undertaken on a regular basis. These 
include the Annual CSE Awareness Day that 
offers short sessions of training focusing 
on particular areas of vulnerability linked to 
CSE. Each term there is a CSE Champions 
meeting that shares intelligence and 
knowledge to support early identification. 

 ■ A Young Women and Girls (YWAG) worker 
is supervised by the Lead within the 
Adolescent Service but based in the MASH 
team one morning a week and attends 
weekly missing meetings, Cross Borough 
Meetings and CSE strategy meetings.

 ■ The MSCB launched a refreshed CSE 
Strategy and Protocol in 2017 to align 
with the new definition of CSE and clarify 
referral processes.

 ■ A number of schools in Merton use PHSE 
lessons as the forum for promoting and 
raising awareness of CSE with pupils. 

 ■ Merton implemented CSE Champions’ 
Meetings where staff from some of Merton’s 
secondary and primary schools, who are 
designated leads on CSE, meet. Other 
attendees and champions come from health, 
voluntary sector and alternative education.

 ■ Training on gangs and CSE is delivered by 
the CSE Lead and MOPAC workers at least 
twice a year. 

Page 29



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1822

 ■ Catch 22 CSE service was commissioned in 
2017 to receive referrals for young people 
in Merton at high risk of CSE. The CSE team 
delivers targeted initiatives and 1:1 work 
with identified young people at risk of and/
or experiencing CSE. 

 ■ There has also been a number of young 
people referred who are on the periphery/
associating with other vulnerable young 
people known to be at risk of either CSE 
or being groomed/exploited for sex, gang, 
criminal and/or drug related activity. 
The Catch22 CSE service also provide 
workshops and presentations to raise 
awareness.

 ■ Catch22 has had a high rate of engagement 
from referrals. In the year to date (April to 
December 2017) there were 26 Referrals 
and 23 Engaged. The number of referrals 
decreased when the newly appointed 
Young Women And Girls (YWAG) worker 
started in post. A process for managing 
the referrals to either Catch22 CSE or the 
YWAG was established between the LBM 
CSE Lead and the Catch22 Service Manager.

 ■ The WISH Centre are an organisation who 
specialise in providing support for young 
people at risk of self-harm and also have 
started to provide services for young 
people in Merton who are also at risk of 
sexual violence.

 ■ Cross borough working around CSE and 
missing children is managed primarily by 
the Police. We recognized that this was 
an area that required further development 
and we utilized our current partnerships to 
develop this further. The CSE lead makes 
contact with boroughs that place young 
people with CSE risks within Merton to 
ensure safety plans are in place.

 

4.3.1 CSE and Looked After Children

There continues to be a strong grip on the issue 
of looked after children and CSE. The Promote 
and Protect Young People Strategic Sub-Group 
(PPYPS) has strategic oversight of CSE and 
looked after children and reviews multi-agency 
performance of this issue at each meeting. In 
addition to this looked after children who are at 
risk of CSE are reviewed at each MASE meeting. 
In 2017-2018, Merton had two looked after young 
people who were identified as being at risk of CSE.

4.3.2 CSE and Out of Borough LAC Cases

Whilst the desire is normally to keep young 
people in the local area, in some cases we have 
placed young people away from the borough 
because of our concerns about the individual. 
For some young people placements away 
from their home community is a key part of 
the care plan as a result of their vulnerability 
to exploitation in this borough or neighbouring 
boroughs. For some the needs of the young 
people are such that they require specialist 
placements which are not available in Merton 
or surrounding boroughs. For all children being 
placed outside of the borough the DCS is 
required to sign off agreement for the placement. 
Care plans for these children and young people 
are reviewed to ensure that where possible 
they are supported to return to their home 
community at the earliest opportunity. These 
cases are all held open to the CSE Operational 
Lead and monitored for a period of time while the 
placement settles and the CSE is deemed to no 
longer be a risk. If CSE is felt to still to be a risk 
whilst the young person is in placement they will 
remain open and monitored with a plan in place 
ensuring support for the young person.

Page 30



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 23

4.4 Children Missing from Home and School

Children Missing Education(CME)

On average 130 to 150 Off Roll children and 
young people are discussed at the CME Panel 
each academic year. 89% of all CME Off roll cases 
during 2015/16 were actioned and closed by the 
panel within three months with a target of 90%.

The DFE guidance for all schools (Maintained, 
Academy and Independent) on referring all off 
roll and on roll children via the LA has significantly 
increased the workload of Education Welfare 
Service (EWS). The Council has increased resources 
to the team and the team have stopped other 
functions to comply with the guidance. We predict 
that this will be over 1,500 children by September 
2018 within the school year. Of these approximately 
30% require case intervention by EWS. 

The patterns emerging from this data are: 

 ■ International families in the UK to work 
(Non-EU and EU) – usually in Wimbledon. 

 ■ Evictions from the private rented sector – 
more commonly in Mitcham. 

 ■ Some pupils will withdrawn due to the 
parental view of the quality of the school, 
issues in school or needs of the child.

 
All cases are tracked and over 95% resolved with 
the year. Some will transfer to Elective Home 
Education (EHE). There is a robust system in 
place to ensure that children who receive EHE are 
safe. This is managed by the EWS.

CME Panel 2015-16 CME (Off Roll) Vulnerable to CME (On Roll)

Number of cases discussed 128 CME (Off Roll) cases 
discussed at CME Panel during 
2015-16 Academic Year (26 cases 
open at end of AY; 102 cases 
closed during AY) 18% reduction

123 Vulnerable to CME (On Roll) 
cases discussed at CME Panel 
during 2015-16 AY (36 cases 
open at end of AY; 87 cases 
closed during AY)

Panel timeliness 96% CME (Off Roll) cases 
actioned and closed by CME 
Panel during 2015-16 Academic 
Year within three months of case 
start date (up by 15 percentage 
points compared to 2014-15)

57% Vulnerable to CME (On 
Roll) cases actioned and closed 
by CME Panel during 2015-16 
Academic Year within three 
months of case start date (in line 
with 2014-15 academic year)

CME Panel 2016-17 CME (Off Roll) Vulnerable to CME (On Roll)

Number of cases discussed 129 CME (Off Roll) cases 
discussed at CME Panel during 
2016-17 Academic Year (25 cases 
open at end of AY: 104 cases 
closed during AY) 19% remaining 
open

131 Vulnerable to CME (On Roll) 
cases discussed at CME Panel 
during 2016-17 AY (61 cases open 
at end of AY: 70 cases closed 
during AY)

Panel timeliness 89% CME (Off Roll) cases 
actioned and closed by CME 
Panel during 2016-17 Academic 
Year within three months of case 
start date

52% Vulnerable to CME (On 
Roll) cases actioned and closed 
by CME Panel during 2016-17 
Academic Year within three 
months of case start date

Page 31



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1824

CME policies and procedures, comply with the 
revised Statutory Guidance and Keeping Children 
Safe In Education 2018. Merton’s EWS promotes 
and enforces regular and punctual school 
attendance. EWS support schools, parents and 
students to ensure that a child of compulsory 
school age has access to education and attends 
school regularly and punctually or receives a 
suitable education other than at school as well 
as ensuring that risks are well understood and 
minimised. Merton’s school attendance is very 
good, above national, London and outer London 
in primary, secondary, special and PRU.

CME Multi-Agency Panel reviews all children who 
are missing education and tracks actions to return 
them to full time education. This panel meets 
monthly.

All referrals to the MASH are screened by an 
education officer to check if they are known to 
be missing education, this intelligence factors 
into MASH RAG rating. Briefings are provided to 
primary and secondary school head teachers on 
safeguarding risks associated with absence from 
school and are reinforced in termly designated 
teachers’ events.

We are vigilant on illegal schools and have 
worked closely with neighbouring boroughs 
on Merton residents that have attended out of 
borough illegal schools this year.

We work pan-London on quality assuring 
Alternative Education Provision to ensure safety 
and quality. 

 

Actions to Address Children Missing From Home 
and Care

 ■ Ongoing strengthening of ‘Multi Agency 
Missing from Care and Home Panel’ 
supported by a ‘Missing dataset’ which 
identifies other vulnerabilities including CSE 
and CME.

 ■ ‘Weekly Missing Meeting’ established in 
April 2016 and embedded in response 
to a need to strengthen multi agency 
operational working to ensure that children 
receive timely support from appropriate 
services including a return home interview.

 ■ Policies and procedures are in place to 
deliver a well-coordinated response to 
children who are reported as missing from 
home or care (reviewed and refreshed to be 
presented to the Board in September 2018).

 ■ Ongoing utility of Police Missing Person Co-
ordinators analysis of repeat locations and 
individuals for missing persons meetings. 

 ■ Independent organisation (Catch22) 
commissioned to work as part of a wider 
interagency team to provide practical and 
emotional support and prevent/reduce 
episodes of going missing. Catch22 also 
provide ‘return home interviews’.

 ■ With regards to children/young people 
known to Children’s Social Care, case 
management of CIN/CP CYP missing from 
home is improving and recording and case 
management of Looked after Children 
missing or absent has improved over the 
last 12 to 18 months. 

 ■ All in-house foster carers have received 
‘missing and absent’ procedure training. 

 ■ ‘Children Missing’ policies and procedures 
are checked as part of the placement 
commissioning process. Agency foster 
carers and residential placements are 
required to report missing episodes in a 
timely way to the Council and Police and 
are required to support the Council to 
implement safety plans. 

Page 32



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 25

Action Taken To Address Children Missing from 
School

 ■ A strong partnership approach of the multi-
disciplinary Hard to Place and CME Panels.

 ■ Maintained our strong performance with 
low levels of NEET and achieved significant 
reduction of numbers of young people in 
the “Not Known” category.

 ■ CME/PA protocols between Education 
and Social Care services strengthened 
with regular reporting to CSF Continuous 
Improvement Board.

 ■ Briefings provided to Primary and 
Secondary School head teachers on 
safeguarding risks associated with absence 
from school and reinforced as appropriate 
in termly designated teachers’ events.

 ■ Specific guidance provided to schools on 
forced marriage, female genital mutilation, 
child trafficking and Prevent.

 ■ Continued to improve school attendance 
and maintained our strong focus on 
preventing permanent exclusions.

 ■ Developed schools and early year’s’ 
settings safeguarding audit tool and 
guidance.

 ■ Adopted a vigilant approach to the 
quality of alternative education provision 
in the borough and the identification and 
notification of unregistered schools.

 ■ Strengthened Education Welfare Service 
focus on the home education process 
where families opt to educate children 
other than at school (EOTAS). Action 
is taken by the authority in relation to 
unregistered schools, we are activity 
monitoring and liaising with Ofsted where 
necessary. 

 ■ Ongoing commitment to Schools Police 
Officers with a proactive prevention 
programme and key link role. 

 ■ Rolled out changes in relation to Pupil 
Registration Regulations 2016 regarding on 
and off rolling.

 ■ Further developed the CME panel dataset 
and intelligence analysis. 

 ■ Consolidated school partnerships and 
further developed the Merton Education 
Partnership, used forums to highlight 
Safeguarding. Developed schools and early 
years Safeguarding audit tool and guidance 
(In early years all funded support and 
targeted support settings).

Page 33



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1826

4.5 Prevent 

The Board’s Promote and Protect Young People 
Strategic Sub-Group works with Safer Merton 
to ensure that there is strong grip and clear 
oversight of all prevent cases involving young 
people. The MSCB has worked hard, along 
with Safer and Stronger, to achieve strong 
engagement with the ‘Prevent’ agenda involving 
key partners including police, schools, early year’s 
settings and with faith, voluntary sector and wider 
communities. Merton has not been identified as a 
Prevent Borough.

There is comprehensive Prevent Guidance 
available to staff via the MSCB and a programme 
of training for staff and external stakeholders in 
the borough.

CSF supports schools to deliver the Prevent Duty 
which is evident by:

 ■ The provision of Governor training; 

 ■ Annually every school trains all staff;

 ■ The use of Head Teachers meetings to 
discuss Prevent matters;

 ■ Schools undertake IT monitoring and the 
London Grid for Learning is in place in all 
schools; 

 ■ Schools are teaching British values and 
there are a range of curriculum projects to 
support this; and

 ■ The borough operates a strong Standing 
Advisory Committee on Religious 
Education (SACRE) with involvement from 
Prevent and Counter Terrorism Police.

Prevent referrals are all managed through the 
MASH. This ensures safeguarding measures to 
be put in place from the start of a referral. The 
Channel Panel has representation from the MASH 
and enables appropriate case discussion to 
implement appropriate safeguarding measures.

The local delivery of Prevent was scrutinised as 
part of the OFSTED inspection that took place 
in June 2017 and rated as ‘Good’. One of the 

inspectors led a focus group discussion with the 
partners that support local delivery. The borough 
was able to demonstrate that through strong 
partnership working; effective safeguarding plans 
were in place to support Merton’s young people. 

An area for development is ensuring that Prevent 
concerns about cases discussed at other panels, 
such as MAPPA or Offender Management, are 
shared with the Channel chair (either informally or 
via a referral). In 2017-2018 there were 11 referrals 
relating to Prevent; of these referrals 7 were 
Merton children (1 becoming a Channel Case).

 
4.6 Female Genital Mutilation

The Board refreshed its multi-agency guidance 
on Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) in 2017-2018 
and provided a range of briefings and multi-
agency training sessions on FGM. The Board 
provides multi-agency training on FGM, which is 
well attended. The Board also provides ‘red alert’ 
briefings to Merton schools around Easter and 
Summer holidays, which have been identified as 
key risk periods for FGM due to the length of the 
holiday period. There were 10 women identified 
with FGM in Merton.

Page 34



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 27

Merton Safeguarding Children Board (MSCB) 
is the Local Safeguarding Children Board for 
Merton. Local Safeguarding Children Boards 
(LSCBs) have a range of roles and statutory 
functions. 

Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 requires each 
local authority to establish a Local Safeguarding 
Children Board for their area and specifies the 
organisations and individuals (other than the 
local authority) that the Secretary of State 
may prescribe in regulations that should be 
represented on LSCBs. 

Children Act 2004 Section 14 sets out the 
objectives of LSCBs, which are: 

(a) to coordinate what is done by each person 
or body represented on the Board for the 
purposes of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children in the area; and 

(b) to ensure the effectiveness of what is done by 
each such person or body for those purposes. 

The LSCB is not an operational body and has no 
direct responsibility for the provision of services 
to children, families or adults. Its responsibilities 
are strategic planning, co-ordination, advisory, 
policy, guidance, setting of standards and 
monitoring. It can commission multi-agency 
training but is not required to do so. 

The delivery of services to children, families and 
adults is the responsibility of the commissioning 
and provider agencies, the Partners, not the 
LSCB itself. 

5.0
Statutory and Legislative Context

Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards Regulations 2006 sets out LSCB duties as: 

5.1 (a)  developing policies and procedures for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of children in the area of the authority, 
including policies and procedures in 
relation to:

(i)  the action to be taken where there 
are concerns about a child’s safety 
or welfare, including thresholds for 
intervention; 

(ii)  training of persons who work with 
children or in services affecting the 
safety and welfare of children;

(iii)  recruitment and supervision of persons 
who work with children;

(iv) investigation of allegations concerning 
persons who work with children;

(v)  safety and welfare of children who are 
privately fostered;

5.1 (b)  communicating to persons and bodies 
in the area of the authority the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children, raising their awareness of how 
this can best be done and encouraging 
them to do so; 

5.1 (c)  monitoring and evaluating the 
effectiveness of what is done by the 
authority and their Board partners 
individually and collectively to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children and 
advising them on ways to improve;

5.1 (d)  participating in the planning of services for 
children. 

Page 35



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1828

Regulation 5 (2) relates to the LSCB Serious Case 
Reviews function and regulation 6 relates to the 
LSCB Child Death functions. 

Regulation 5 (3) offers that an LSCB may also 
engage in any other activity that facilitates, or is 
conducive to, the achievement of its objectives.

The Children and Social Work Act 2017, received 
Royal Ascent on 27th April 2017. The Act will 
abolish LSCBs, replacing them with Safeguarding 
Partnerships. Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018 was published in July 2018.

Section 16 of The Children and Social Work Act 
2017 amends the Section 16D of the Children Act 
2004 Act. The Act provides that

(1) The safeguarding partners for a local 
authority area in England must make 
arrangements for:

(a) the safeguarding partners, and

(b) any relevant agencies that they consider 
appropriate, to work together in exercising 
their functions, so far as the functions are 
exercised for the purpose of safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children in 
the area.

(2) The arrangements must include arrangements 
for the safeguarding partners to work 
together to identify and respond to the needs 
of children in the area.

(3) In this section:

 “relevant agency”, in relation to a local 
authority area in England, means a person 
who: 

(a) is specified in regulations made by the 
Secretary of State;

and

(b) exercises functions in that area in relation 
to children. 

“Safeguarding partner”, in relation to a local 
authority area in England, means:

(a) the local authority;

(b) a clinical commissioning group for an area 
any part of which falls within the local 
authority area;

(c) the chief officer of police for a police area 
any part of which falls within the local 
authority area.

These duties are further clarified in the statutory 
guidance: Working Together to Safeguard 
Children: A guide to inter-agency working to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, 
2018, Chapter 3 (WT 2018) 

LSCB duties are specified in WT 2018, Chapters 3, 
4 and 5, with a responsibility to have oversight of 
single agency and multi-agency safeguarding and 
promotion of children’s welfare (under Children 
Act 2004, section 11,) as set out in WT chapters 1 
and 2. 

Page 36



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 29

The Board has a rolling 24-month Business Plan, 
to be refreshed each March for the business year 
starting each April. The update of the MSCB 
Business Plan for 2017-2019, agreed by the Board 
in June 2016, is attached as Appendix 1. The 
Business Plan outlines the Board’s priorities for 
2017-2019 and was agreed by the Board at its 
annual Away Day in March 2017. Priority items can 
be added within the year. 

The MSCB meets three times per year in half-day 
business meetings; and in a Business Planning 
Away Day once per year, in March. The Business 
Implementation Group of the Board meets four 
times per year. The progress of the actions agreed 
in the Business Plan is reviewed at each meeting. 
Each Sub Group has an agreed Work Plan and 
each Sub Group reports to the MSCB at each 
Board meeting.

The current membership5 of the Board includes 
the following statutory partners:

 ■ The Metropolitan Police Service, Borough 
Commander 

 ■ The National Probation Service and London 
Community Rehabilitation Companies 

 ■ The Youth Offending Team 

 ■ NHS England and Merton Clinical 
Commissioning Groups including 
representation from commissioned Health 
Services 

 ■ CAFCASS. 
 

Membership of the Board also includes:

 ■ The Director of Children, Schools and 
Families

 ■ Assistant Director of Children’s Social Care 
and Youth Inclusion

 ■ Assistant Director of Education

 ■ The Director of Public Health, Merton

 ■ Representation from the Voluntary and 
Community Sector

 ■ Representation from Adult Social Care

 ■ Representation from Housing, including 
Housing Associations.

 
There is also strong partnership and influence 
between the MSCB and the following strategic 
partnerships and their Sub-Groups:

 ■ The Health and Well-Being Board 

 ■ The Corporate Parenting Board 

 ■ The Children’s Trust 

 ■ The Safer and Stronger Partnership.

6.0
MSCB Inter-relationships and Influence with other Key Partners

5 The structure and membership of the Board is included in 
this report as Appendices 3.

Page 37



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1830

The work of the MSCB is delivered and overseen 
through each of its Sub-Groups.

7.1 Quality Assurance Sub-Group

The purpose of the Quality Assurance (QA) Sub-
Group is to ensure children and young people are 
safeguarded and protected by overseeing the 
quality of single and multi-agency work carried 
out in partnership across the children and young 
people sector. 

The QA Sub-Group undertook the following 
activities between March 2017-2018:

 ■ Conducting a multi-agency audit on the 
theme of Children with Disabilities in May 
2017

 ■ Conducted a multi-agency audit on the 
theme of neglect.

 
The Sub-Group also monitored the following 
action plans to ensure effective implementation:

 ■ Monitored the implementation of the Child 
B Serious Case Review (SCR) Action Plan

 ■ Monitored the implementation of the Baby 
C Learning and Improvement Review (LiR) 
and a multi-agency quality assurance 
framework to ensure that the learning from 
this is cascaded across all agencies

 ■ Conducted a range of briefings regarding 
the learning from Multi-Agency audits and 
local LiRs and SCRs

 ■ Maintained oversight of escalations to the 
MSCB.

 
The QA Sub-Group is overseeing the review of 
the MSCB Performance Dataset. A Task and Finish 
Group has been established and will meet during 
the autumn term to make proposals regarding 
performance to the Board.

7.0
MSCB Sub-Groups

7.2 Promote and Protect Young People Sub-Group

The Promote and Protect Young People (PPYP) 
Sub-Group met 8 times in 2017-2018. The purpose 
of the PPYP is to take overall lead responsibility 
on behalf of the MSCB to ensure that there are 
effective and up-to-date multi-agency policies, 
protocols and procedures to ensure children and 
young people are safeguarded and protected and 
their welfare is promoted; concentrating on extra-
familial abuse where there is risk of abuse outside 
the family. PPYP is responsible for policies relating 
to issues like CSE, children missing from home, 
care or education, child on child abuse, other 
forms of exploitation (such as radicalization), 
e-safety, trafficking, abuse by those in a position 
of trust or in institutions – including faith 
organisations and community organisations; and 
policies and procedures in relation to allegations 
against those in a position of trust (Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO) referrals). 

During 2017-2018, the PPYPS Sub-Group:

 ■ Reviewed and refreshed the MSCB CSE 
Strategy to include the new DfE definition 
of CSE

 ■ Reviewed and refreshed the MSCB CSE 
Protocol clarifying processes for referring 
and managing CSE cases

 ■ Monitored the implementation of the CSE 
Action Plan

 ■ Oversaw the work of the MASE Panel

 ■ Review the work of commissioned services 
including parenting support, the work 
of Catch-22, Barnardos, Metro support 
for boys and young men, and the work 
with young people at risk from gangs, 
work with girls who are vulnerable to CSE 
and exploitation from gangs, the CSE 
Coordinator, parenting support work etc.

 ■ Developing the work in relation to 
contextual safeguarding.

 

Page 38



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 31

7.3 Learning and Development Sub-Group

7.3.1 MSCB Joint Conference with Children’s 
Schools and Families Department and the 
Safeguarding Adults Board

The Merton Safeguarding Children Board 
(MSCB), Merton Safeguarding Adult Board and 
Merton Children’s Social Care Joint Conference 
was held on 21st March at Epsom Jockey Club 
Conference Centre. The Conference theme was 
Think Family: No Wrong Door a spotlight on 
parental mental health. 

The Conference was attended by almost 200 
professionals from a wide variety of disciplines 
across adult and children’s services and included 
strong representation from the private and 
voluntary sector. This year we were honoured to 
have in attendance a group of parents who were 
service-users; their contribution to the conference 
was invaluable.

The Conference featured presentations from 
Hannah Doody (Director of Community & 
Housing) and Paul Angeli (Assistant Director 
Children, Schools & Families). The MSCB’s Training 
Coordinator, Carla Thomas gave a powerful 
presentation entitled, The children are watching 
– the possible impact of parental difficulties on 
children and young people. This was one of the 
most highly rated presentations of the Conference.

Our keynote address was delivered by Dr Crispin 
Day, from South London and Maudsley, NHS 
Foundation Trust, King’s College, London, Institute 
of Psychiatry. The focus of Dr Day’s presentation 
was on Transformational Parenting and helping us 
think through the services that are behind each 
‘door’ or access point.

7.3.2 MSCB Training

The table below gives a quick overview of the 
number of planned and run training events from 
April 2017 to March 2018.

The table overleaf indicates attendance per 
course and per agency.

MSCB Training 2017/2018

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total

Planned events 4 9 7 6 0 9 5 7 1 3 5 8 64

Added events 1 1 5 1 2 2 12

Cancelled events 1 2 4 2 1 4 1 1 2 18

Actual events 3 7 4 4 9 5 8 1 5 6 6 58

Booked 28 126 39 68 125 81 142 8 79 83 267 1046

Cancellations 1 9 1 10 8 12 7 4 4 8 64

DNAs 7 21 4 7 22 15 20 2 18 15 33 164

Extras 3 22 1 5 8 6 20 10 6 6 87

Number attended 23 118 38 53 0 96 57 110 6 66 68 221 856

Page 39



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1832

The MSCB has a responsibility to monitor and 
evaluate the effectiveness of training including 
multi-agency training to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. As part of this 
responsibility the MSCB offers a comprehensive 
programme of multi-agency training.

The MSCB’s Learning and Development Strategy 
was reviewed in June 2017. The strategy outlines 
the MSCB’s approach to Multi-Agency Learning 
and Professional Development. 

The provision of learning and development will be 
based on: 

 ■ Lessons from serious case reviews, learning 
and improvement reviews, management 
reviews

 ■ Learning needs identified as part of multi-
agency audits

 ■ The MSCB key priorities as outlined in the 
MSCB business plan and other requirements 
as arising during the course of the year 

 ■ It will also link to requirements from other 
Boards (e.g. Safeguarding Adult Board, 
the Health and Well-Being Board etc.) 
and where appropriate share with other 
Safeguarding Boards and agencies so as 
to avoid duplication with single agency 
programmes and maximise the use of 
resources and shared expertise

 ■ System wide developments in multi-agency 
safeguarding practice, for example, the 
Merton Social Work Practice Model, 
including the multi agency implementation 
of Signs of Safety and the review of the 
Merton Child and Family Well-Being Model)

 ■ Multi-Agency training needs identified as 
part of reviews and/or inspections.

 

MSCB training attendance per agency April 2017 – March 2018

0

150

50

200

250

100

C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
&

 H
o

us
in

g
 –

 R
S

Ls

E
d

uc
at

io
n 

– 
S

ch
o

o
ls

/C
o

lle
g

es
/N

ur
se

ri
es

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
C

C
G

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
C

en
tr

al
 L

o
nd

o
n 

C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h 
C

ar
e

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
D

en
ta

l P
ra

ct
ic

es

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
E

p
so

m
 a

nd
 S

t 
H

el
ie

r
U

ni
ve

rs
it

yH
o

sp
it

al
s 

N
H

S
 T

ru
st

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
G

P
 P

ra
ct

ic
es

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
S

o
ut

h 
W

es
t 

Lo
nd

o
n 

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e’

s
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h 

Tr
us

t 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t/
P

ri
va

te
 S

ch
o

o
ls

 

LB
 M

er
to

n 
– 

C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

ti
ve

/C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 S
er

vi
ce

s

LB
 M

er
to

n 
– 

C
o

m
m

un
it

y 
&

 H
o

us
in

g

LB
 M

er
to

n 
– 

E
nv

ir
o

nm
en

t 
&

 R
eg

en
er

at
io

n

LB
 M

er
to

n 
C

S
F

 –
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
S

o
ci

al
 C

ar
e

/Y
o

ut
h 

In
cl

us
io

n

LB
 M

er
to

n 
C

S
F

 –
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

ni
ng

LB
 M

er
to

n 
C

S
F

 –
 E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs

LB
 M

er
to

n 
C

S
F

 –
 E

d
uc

at
io

n

O
th

er
 B

o
ro

ug
hs

P
o

lic
e

P
ri

va
te

 O
rg

an
is

at
io

n/
C

o
m

p
an

y

P
ro

b
at

io
n

V
o

lu
nt

ar
y/

F
ai

th
/C

o
m

m
un

it
y

7

202

11

81

1 1 19
23 25

1
22 23

175

66

47

72

7
18 10 7

114

H
ea

lt
h 

– 
S

t 
G

eo
rg

e’
s 

H
o

sp
it

al
 T

ru
st

6

Page 40



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 33

The MSCB’s programme remains one of the 
most comprehensive multi-agency safeguarding 
training programmes in London, offering a 
wide range of training opportunities for multi-
agency safeguarding practitioners. The training 
programme includes events booked until March 
2019. We have recently added to the programme 
a series of briefings including:

 ■ A briefing on Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
Protocol 

 ■ A briefing on the multi-agency working 
protocol for children living with parents 
with mental health problems

 ■ A briefing delivered by Kingston LSCB on 
Learning lessons from a Kingston LIR which 
related to a family who were resident in 
Merton and known to Merton services. 

 

The MSCB training programme is aligned to the 
Board’s key priorities and reflects the learning 
coming out of our SCR and LiR as well as learning 
emerging from analysis of SCRs nationally. 

We are working closely with partners in Children’s 
Social Care (CSC) to ensure that there is 
consistency and minimal overlap between the 
MSCB training offer and the CSC programmes.

 
7.3.3 E-Learning 

As part of our on-going review of the MSCB’s 
training offer, we have reviewed the E-Learning 
Programme. Unfortunately, there is limited takeup 
and completion of E-Learning Courses across the 
multi-agency safeguarding system; as a result, the 
Learning and Development Sub-Group confirmed 
the decision not to renew the MSCB’s E-Learning 
License. This means that from 31st July 2018, the 
MSCB will no longer offer an E-Learning package.

Page 41



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1834

7.4. Policy Sub-Group

The Policy Sub-Group is focused on policies 
and procedures and the purpose of the Policy 
Sub-Group is to take overall lead responsibility 
on behalf of the MSCB to ensure that there are 
effective and up-to-date multi-agency guidance, 
policies, protocols and procedures to ensure 
children and young people are safeguarded and 
protected and their welfare is promoted. The 
Policy Sub Group also has lead responsibility 
for policies in relation to safeguarding children 
from harm and neglect within their families 
or substitute families. This includes core early 
intervention and child protection procedures 
and looked after children procedures; private 
fostering; the Sub-Group also leads on specialist 
areas such as parental mental ill-health, parental 
alcohol and substance abuse, and parental 
disabilities; FGM, cultural-based abuse and so-
called ‘honour’ violence.

 
7.5 Merton Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)

The Merton Child Death Overview Panel has local 
arrangements to respond to and review child 
deaths in Merton in accordance with the Working 
Together to Safeguard Children (2018) guidelines. 
These include:

 ■ A review of all child deaths (under 18 years, 
excluding those babies who are stillborn) in 
the LSCB area undertaken by a panel (Para 
5.8 – 5.9); and

 ■ A rapid response by a group of key 
professionals who come together for 
enquiring into and evaluating each 
unexpected death of a child (Para 5.12-
5.20).

 
For the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018 
eight child deaths were reported to the Merton 
CDOP. Four of the eight child deaths were 
‘unexpected’ and so subject to a rapid response 
meeting and one death was referred to the MSCB 
for consideration of a learning review, however 
the MSCB decision was the case did not meet 
the required threshold for a review. In all four 

unexpected deaths where a rapid response 
meeting was held the national timeframe of 5 
days was met. One of the eight deaths reported 
occurred outside of the borough of Merton. 

There were three CDOP meetings convened 
in 2017/18 and ten child deaths reviewed. The 
timeframe for the review of child deaths at CDOP 
is six months6. Merton CDOP reviewed 70% 
of child deaths within six months of the death 
which compares favourably with the national 
performance indicator of 24%7.

The ten deaths reviewed were classified by 
CDOP as ‘expected’ and considered to have 
‘no modifiable factors’. Two of the child deaths 
reviewed concerned children who had life limiting 
conditions. Three of the child deaths reviewed 
were neonatal deaths (extreme prematurity) and 
no modifiable factors were identified. There were 
no cases reviewed that were classified as sudden 
unexpected death in an infant (SUDI). 

The categories of death for the ten Merton cases 
reviewed by Panel in 2017-18 were:

 ■ Category 4: Malignancy (2)

 ■ Category 6: Chronic medical condition (1)

 ■ Category 7: Chromosomal condition (3)

 ■ Category 8: Perinatal/neonatal event (4)

6 National statistics from https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-2017

7 Ibid. as per (1) above. 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/child-death-reviews-year-ending-31-march-2017


Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 35

National data (table 7) demonstrates Merton 
having higher than national percentage of child 
deaths relating to all the above conditions. 
In 2017-18 Merton has more than twice the 
amount of child deaths from malignancy-
related conditions than national averages. In all 
other categories Merton is nominally more than 
national average, however the local numbers 
proportionately are small and should be 
interpreted with caution. 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 supported 
by national guidance will impact on how CDOPs 
function in the future; the sponsor for CDOP will 
shift to the Department of Health and each CDOP 
will be expected to review 60 deaths annually. 
The rationale for these changes being the vast 
majority of child deaths have a medical or public 
health causation and the increasing the number 
of deaths reviewed will enable meaningful 
analysis of data. 

7.6 Youth Crime Executive Board (YCEB)

The Youth Crime and Prevention Executive Board 
(YCPEB) is chaired by the Director of Children’s, 
Schools and Families. Membership includes senior 
representatives from Police, Children’s Social Care 
(CSC), Education Inclusion, Probation, Housing, 
Public Health and the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG). The YCPEB is the governance 
structure for Merton in relation to the work of the 
Youth Justice Team (the local Youth Offending 
Team), including production of the Annual Youth 
Justice Plan, performance management and 
quality assurance. It also oversees the partnership 
response to serious youth violence, gangs and 
the “Troubled Families” programme (known 
locally as Transforming Families) (TF). The YCPEB 
reports to the MSCB and the Safer and Stronger 
Partnership, which has wider oversight of crime 
issues in the borough. 

The YCPEB’s key priorities over the past year 
have involved maintaining and monitoring the 
team’s performance against the Youth Justice 
Board’s three key performance indicators of 
reducing first time entrants to the Youth Justice 
system, sustaining low numbers of young people 

Table 7: National and London Borough of Merton Categories of Child Death (%) 2017/18

40%

50%

30%

20%

10%

0%
4 Malignancy 6 Chronic Medical Condition 7 Chromosomal Condition 8 Neonatal Condition

8%

20%

5%

10%

25%

30%
34%

40%

National Merton

Page 43



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1836

who are sentenced to custody and reducing the 
number and rate of young people who reoffend. 
The YCPEB priorities have also been in regard to 
delivering the TF programme and reducing the 
serious youth violence and gang activity in the 
borough. Therefore the YCPEB contributes to all 
three of the MSCB priorities in regard to Think 
Family, Early Help and Vulnerable Adolescents. 

Following a restructure in April 2018, the Youth 
Justice Team, Transforming Families Teams and 
newly established Tackling Exploitation Team 
(managed by the CSE Lead) have been placed 
into a new service, which the staff renamed as 
the Adolescent and Family Service. The YJT 
Manager’s post has been deleted and assimilated 
into the Head of Service post, which sits within 
the Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion 
senior leadership team. The YJT is a multi-
agency service with seconded staff from Police, 
Probation, Education, CAMHS, Catch22, Nursing 
and Social Care. The YJT undertakes assessments 
and delivers interventions with young people 

receiving a formal disposal from either the Police 
(pre-court outcomes) or the courts (statutory 
orders) and also has a bespoke specialist offer for 
parents. The Transforming Families team delivers 
targeted interventions with families aiming to 
intervene effectively before problems escalate 
within a family. This involves working closely with 
schools, academies, the Police and the Education 
Welfare Service. The team has a targeted 
parenting officer who provides group work. The 
MOPAC funded gangs’ worker in TF delivers both 
group work and individual interventions with 
young people involved in gangs and/or serious 
youth violence. 

The YCPEB oversees Merton’s response to new 
legislation, the inspection regime, its local crime 
reduction and prevention initiatives, monitors 
issues concerning risk and safeguarding and 
ensure staffing and resourcing levels are in place 
to maintain performance and effectiveness 
within the delivery of the youth crime and 
prevention services. 

Page 44



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 37

A partnership development in the last year 
has been the implementation of a Liaison and 
Diversion Service within the YJT, commissioned 
by the CCG and funded by NHS England. The aim 
is to liaise with Police and other professionals at 
the earliest opportunity when a young person 
enters the criminal justice system (usually at 
the point of arrest) to assess their health and 
wellbeing needs and consider potential diversion 
opportunities for these needs to be met outside 
of the criminal justice system. The funding 
has allowed for the 0.5fte CAMHS Forensic 
Psychologist position in the YJT to be extended 
to full-time, thereby offering a flexible response 
to cases across the system. The funding has been 
utilised to also extend the Speech and Language 
Therapy (SALT) hours to allow a service for pre-
court outcomes and to commission a specialist 
consultant for harmful sexual behaviour training 
and consultancy (for all services). 

The CCG has also identified a gap in regard to 
young people on the edge of the criminal justice 
system (often involved with the Transforming 
Families Team) and will be putting forward a 
business case for an additional 0.5fte provision 
to meet this gap and ensure that a health offer 
is provided across the criminal justice pathway, 
as per the Transformation Plan and Health in 
Justice framework. 

Merton’s Borough Police have recently undergone 
changes to merge as a Borough Command Unit 
with Wandsworth, Kingston and Richmond. This 
has resulted in changes of personnel representing 
different target areas (safeguarding, neighbourhood 
safety, investigations). The Superintendent of 
Neighbourhoods now represents the Police at 
the YCPEB. The change has positively impacted 
the YJT and seen an increase in staffing from the 
Police with a second seconded Police Officer 
(0.8fte) joining the YJT in September 2018. This 
will allow for more capacity to undertake joint work 
and contact victims of youth court outcomes in 
compliance with both GDPR and the Victim Code. 

The YCPEB monitors performance through 
quarterly ‘dashboard’ reports, summaries of the 
highest risk young people monitored at the Youth 
Offender Management and Gang Multi-Agency 

Panel, receiving notifications from partners and the 
Youth Justice Board in regard to national changes 
and developments and through audit reports. 

The YCPEB is preparing for a new inspection 
framework from HMIP, which includes a casework 
audit but has been extended to include an 
assessment of the governance and leadership of 
youth justice and the pre-court work carried out 
by both Police and the YJT. The Board members 
have attended a ‘visioning event’ with the YJT 
staff to understand the work undertaken by all 
the team members, which was presented through 
a roleplay and ‘interesting facts’ handout. This was 
followed by roundtable discussions to allow both 
board members and YJT staff to discuss examples 
of good practice and any barriers to achieving 
positive outcomes. The event was seen as a success 
and is likely to be repeated in future, including with 
representatives from children’s social care and 
schools. The YCPEB has also supported the process 
of a peer review between Merton YJT and their 
neighbouring YOT in Sutton, which will focus on the 
elements of governance and leadership. The YJT will 
also have an external audit, which should provide a 
benchmark for further actions since the last external 
audit was completed in November 2016. 

Due to the small cohort currently entering 
the system and receiving statutory orders the 
changes in performance can be dramatic and last 
year saw a rise in both custody and re-offending 
rates, which has been analysed in more detail 
within the Youth Justice Plan. 

The YCPEB commissioned the IT team to create 
profile reports from the YJT case management 
system (Careworks). This has enabled a more 
robust analysis within the Youth Justice Plan and 
a detailed summary of the needs and barriers 
to desistance presented by the majority of 
cases. These have been particularly striking in 
regard to mental health, social, learning and 
communication needs, substance misuse and 
relationship difficulties. This therefore allows for a 
focused and targeted response to those most at 
risk of re-offending or causing harm and supports 
the continued provision of a multi-disciplinary 
team to work with the most entrenched cases on 
statutory orders. 

Page 45



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1838

A rising concern is that of criminal exploitation, 
in particular ‘county lines’ drug dealing. The 
Youth Justice Team was successful in gaining 
grant funding from the Home Office to deliver 
a pilot project aimed at preventing young 
people’s involvement in serious and organised 
crime. Merton was one of three areas in England 
and Wales to be granted the funding. The 
project prioritised cases with Class A drug 
supply, particularly those in county locations, 
as a response to the Local Assessment Process 
undertaken by the Community Safety Institute in 
February 2017. The pilot worked with eight young 
people and another 15 cases were identified as 
involved in county-lines. The mapping of these 23 
cases has identified a number of trends in regard 
to education, peer groups and family needs. A 
presentation was given to the Merton Partnership 
in February 2018 by the YJT, TF and Safer Merton 
managers in regard to gangs, serious youth 
violence and exploitation, highlighting that while 
the numbers are small the impact has been 
significant due to the type of violence (sometimes 
involving samurai swords or machetes) and 
the link between Merton’s young adults and a 
small number of murders in London during 2017. 
Further presentations were made to the Children’s 
Trust and MSCB and a joint knife crime plan is 
being developed in Merton, led by partners but in 
collaboration with the YJT and TF. 

One of the MOPAC funded workers in the 
Adolescent and Family Service has been 
supporting victims of serious youth violence 
and engaging young people on court orders 
into restorative justice processes. With the rise 
in county lines and knife possession his role has 
evolved with most referrals for young people on 
orders being those at risk of criminal exploitation 
(in addition to victims of serious youth violence to 
engage them in restorative approaches). Therefore, 
his job title has changed from ‘reducing reoffending 
worker’ to ‘reducing criminal exploitation and 
violence worker’ and he has moved from the YJT 
into the Tackling Exploitation Team in order to 
maintain this expanded area of work alongside 
the child sexual exploitation processes. 

In order to maintain joint oversight to reduce 
the risk, exploitation and harm caused through 
exploitation and serious youth violence the 
chairs of the current adolescent panels (Police 
DCI for Safeguarding and the YJT manager / 
Head of Service) have developed an integrated 
multi- agency risk, vulnerability and exploitation 
(MARVE) panel. The panel will discuss children 
most at risk or vulnerable to exploitation or 
harming others and will combine the other 
adolescent panels previously held within the 
borough (MASE, Persons of Concern, Young 
Offender Management Panel, Gangs Multi-
Agency Panel and TF). The panel is outlined 
within the MARVE Protocol, co-written by the 
CSE Lead, which integrates elements from other 
protocols (Serious Youth Violence and Criminal 
Exploitation, Child Sexual Exploitation, Harmful 
Sexual Behaviour), which all provide workers 
with clear definitions, responses, pathway routes 
and actions plans, including responsibilities for 
children in Merton and/or looked after by Merton.

The focus for the YCPEB in the next year will be to 
improve performance in regard to re-offending and 
use of custody, consider avenues for sustainable 
services in light of the funding for TF ending in 2020 
in parallel to reductions in YJB Grant and MOPAC 
funding, supporting the integrated management 
of exploitation and harm, ensuring high quality 
services and staffing are in place for the most high 
risk and vulnerable adolescents, be ‘inspection-
ready’ and confidently sharing good practice.

Page 46



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 39

7.7 Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) 
Sub-Group

The MSCB is committed to addressing the 
violence against women and girls. The strategic 
aims outline four priority areas in tackling VAWG 
and domestic abuse, which are: 

1. Providing accessible, evidence-based, 
holistic support to people who have 
experienced or are at risk of VAWG

2. Implementing effective systems and 
interventions for working with perpetrators

3. Fostering an integrated and coordinated 
approach to tackling VAWG

4. In order to deliver the four strategic aims 
this action plan is split into to four priority 
themes:

 
1. Coordination: to develop a coordinated multi-
agency approach by ensuring that the response 
to VAWG is shared by all stakeholders, embedded 
into service plans and coordinated effectively. 

2. Prevention: to change attitudes and prevent 
violence by raising awareness through campaigns; 
safeguarding and educating children and young 
people; early identification, intervention and 
training. 

3. Provision: to improve provision and specialist 
support services which are essential in enabling 
people to end violence in their lives and recover 
from the damaging effects of abuse by providing 
a range of services to meet the needs of 
victims and survivors; practical and emotional 
support, emergency and acute services; access 
to legal advice and support, refuge and safe 
accommodation. 

4. Protection: to provide effective response to 
perpetrators outside of and within the criminal 
justice system through effective investigation; 
prosecution; victim support and protection; 
perpetrator interventions.

Key achievements or highlights for 2017-2018.

The Merton VAWG board oversaw a range of 
work during 2017-18:

 ■ Merton was the first London Borough to 
adopt the “Ask Angela” campaign which 
works to address sexual violence within the 
night time economy. Based on our work 
this campaign has now been adopted by 
the Metropolitan Police who are now rolling 
this out across the city. Wimbledon has 
100% coverage and the rest of the borough 
has 90% coverage of the scheme.

 ■ Work undertaken through the campaigns 
resulted in some increases in reports for 
quarters 1-3 however reporting in quarter 
4 reduced. The reduction may coincide 
with there being no sustained promotion 
during these months. The seasonal peaks 
for DV reporting for August and December 
have changed slightly with August still 
being a peak month but December reports 
had lowered and as such we now ensure 
that services are ready for these profiled 
seasonal increases.

 ■ The partnership agreed to commence work 
on a sexual violence profile. This work will 
be undertaken in the 2018-19 financial year 
and will drive forward our next 12 months 
focus on the NO MORE campaign.

 ■ Merton’s Police achieve 22.3% successful 
detection rate (July 2017 – June 2018) for 
Violence with Injury (Domestic Abuse) the 
second best in the MPS. There has been a 10% 
increase in DVA reports in the last 12 months.

 ■ Operation Dauntless is the Metropolitan Police 
Service’s range of responses to the issue of 
domestic violence; the use of the approach 
with higher risk suspects is now routine. 

 ■ Delivered a full programme of activities for 
the 16 Days of Activism 2016. This included 
a learning day, a cake sale, an event at 
Merton College and a tweet a day via 
Twitter and Facebook.

 ■ Continued providing training support to the 
MSCB.

Page 47



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1840

 ■ Recruited a Victim Champions post.

 ■ Looked at the Pan London Housing 
Reciprocal protocol that has been rolled 
out across London to determine how 
Merton can be involved.

 ■ A special meeting to look at JTAI Multi-
Agency response to children living with 
domestic abuse and have briefed agencies 
in preparation to an inspection. 

 ■ The VAWG Strategic Partnership has been 
involved with developing the Children’ 
Schools and Families DVA Strategy.

 
As we move forward through 2018-19 we will 
continue to build on this work by:

 ■ Embedding the Victims’ Champion and 
developing the strategic offer of VAWG 
sub-group further.

 ■ Completing the Sexual Violence Profile and 
considering how the outcomes of this will 
change operational delivery and strategic 
commissioning.

 ■ Completing an overview profile of all VAWG 
strands which are less understood within 
Merton.

 ■ Conduct a light review and update of the 
DVA profile in advance of the 2019-20 full 
review.

 ■ Discharging our year two priorities from the 
VAWG strategy and developing the detail 
around our year three ambitions.

 ■ Continue to build on our successes of the NO 
MORE and Ask Angela campaigns to further 
improve reporting rates within the borough.

 ■ Commission a new DVA service for 2019-
2021 to ensure that Merton can meet the 
needs of our DVA victims moving forward.

 ■ Develop and deliver an improved 
programme of events during the 16 Days of 
Activism campaign 2017, deliver a robust 
programme of events for NO MORE week 
2018 and ensure that the VAWG partnership 
acknowledge all international, national and/
or local days around VAWG.

7.8 MASH Strategic Board

The purpose of the MASH Strategic Board (MSB) 
is outlined as follows:

 ■ To provide assurance to the MASH 
Leadership Group 

 ■ To review the performance of MASH against 
individual agency Performance Framework 
and MASH Performance Framework

 ■ To review the function of the hub

 ■ To identify future development/changes for 
the hub.

 
The MSCB meets each month and membership of 
the Board includes:

 ■ Merton Adult Services

 ■ Merton Borough Police

 ■ Merton CSF: Children’s Social Care, 
Education & Early Years

 ■ Merton CCG: Commissioner of community 
health services

 ■ Merton Housing Services.

 
The MSB is accountable to the MSCB. An annual 
report will be submitted and presented to the 
MSCB and the MASH Group by the Chair who 
shall brings to the attention of the Board and 
the MASH Leadership Group issues relating to 
performance, the future direction of the MASH, 
operations, issues, blockages etc.

 
7.9 Structure and Effectiveness of the MSCB 

In 2014-2015 the Board undertook a review of 
its structure and constitution. The focus of this 
review was to streamline the work of the Board 
for increased effectiveness. These changes were 
embedded in 2015-2016 and there is evidence 
that these changes has paid dividends in terms of 
the Board’s increased effectiveness and impact.

The Board has 100% compliance with its section 11 
process for statutory agencies. This was supported 

Page 48



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 41

by a rigorous Peer Review and Challenge process 
to which challenged each agency to demonstrate 
their effectiveness in safeguarding and promoting 
the welfare of children locally. 

The MSCB has clear thresholds which are clearly 
understood throughout the safeguarding system. 
This is known locally as the Merton Well-Being 
Model and Common and Shared Assessment).

The MSCB has a robust Multi-Agency Training 
programme which works to ensure that the multi-
agency children’s workforce has access to high 
quality, multi-agency training. This programme is 
evaluated as being very good by the members of 
staff attending courses.

The Board is assured by partner agencies 
regarding their recruitment and supervision of 
persons who work with children as part of our 
Section 11 process. There are arrangements in place 
for the LADO. The Board also receives the private 
fostering annual report in January each year.

The Board works in cooperation with 
neighbouring children’s services including 
peer review; contributing to SCRs and learning 
(Croydon, Wandsworth, Kingston and Sutton).

The Board communicates with persons and 
bodies including schools, parents, educational 
settings, temples, churches, Mosques, other 
voluntary organisations, health providers 
and a range of other statutory and voluntary 
services by telephone, online, in person, through 
conferences, events, briefings etc. regarding 
safeguarding. The Board elicits feedback on its 
communications to ensure that this is effective.

The Board also quality assures the quality of 
safeguarding and promotion of children’s welfare, 
through the monitoring of key performance data; 
multi-agency, single agency audits ensuring 
that the learning from audits and other quality 
assurance activity is cascaded across the 
children’s safeguarding system.

Page 49



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1842

The Board contributes to the planning of services 
for children in highlighting priorities for service 
delivery and service design. For example, the 
Board’s Annual Business Plan is informed by the 
Joint Needs Strategic Assessment.

Since 2012 the MSCB has: 

 ■ Submitted 7 serious incident notifications 
to Ofsted

 ■ Completed two SCRs (the Tia Sharpe SCR 
and the Child B SCR) 

 ■ Completed 3 learning and improvement 
reviews (Child J, Baby PP and Baby C).

 
As noted in this report, the Board was inspected 
by Ofsted in June-July 2017. Inspectors found that:

Merton’s Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(MSCB) is outstanding. It is highly effective in 
holding agencies to account for their individual 
safeguarding arrangements in the welfare and 
protection of children. 

Inspectors also reported that:

The MSCB is highly effective. There are strong 
governance arrangements underpinned by 
established partnerships with other strategic 
boards, including the Health and Well-being 
Board, the Corporate Parenting Board, the 
Children’s Trust and the Safer and Stronger 
Partnership. Strategic leaders, elected 
members and partners work collaboratively 
and focus relentlessly on what matters to 
children in keeping them safe and promoting 
their welfare. There is strong engagement 
between the chief executive, DCS and lead 
member; roles and responsibilities are clear 
and accountability is strong.

7.10 MSCB Budget

The MSCB has an agreed budget to which 
agencies contribute. Its income for 2017/2018 
was £248,470. The MSCB Budget for 2017-2018 is 
detailed as follows:

Brought forward from 2016-2017 £18,642

Income for 2017-2018

Agency Contributions

CAFCASS  £550

London CRC £1,000

London Probation Service £1,000

London Borough of Merton £142,030

Merton CCG £55,000

Metropolitan Police £5,000

Sub-total £204,580

London Borough of Merton   
Baseline supplement8 £43,890

Total  £248,470

 
 
Expenditure

Staffing £144,170

Premises £2000

Supplies and Services £100,460

Transport £1,840

Totals £248,470

Brought forward from 2017-2018  £0.00

8 In 2016-2017, the MSCB Expenditure exceeded income from 
Agency contributions; LB Merton therefore supplemented 
the MSCB Budget.

Page 50



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 43

8.1 Harmful Sexual Behaviour Task and Finish 
Group

The PPYPS Sub-Group commissioned a task and 
finish group to develop a multi-agency protocol to 
address the issue of harmful sexual behaviour. The 
task and finish group included representation from:

 ■ Children’s Social Care

 ■ Health

 ■ The Police

 ■ The Youth Justice Team

 ■ Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Practitioners with the Youth Justice Team

 ■ Education

 
The task and finish group also consulted with 
schools and young people. The Harmful Sexual 
Behaviour Protocol was developed in accordance 
with the relevant chapters in the London Child 
Protection Procedures9, drawing upon the 
following local and national guidance:

 ■ Merton Safeguarding Children Board’s 
Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy 2017

 ■ Merton Safeguarding Children Board’s 
Child Sexual Exploitation Protocol 2017

 ■ Harmful Sexual Behaviour Among Young 
People, Guideline September 2016 (National 
institute for Health and Care)

 ■ Hackett, S, Holmes, D and Branigan, P 
(2016) Operational Framework for Children 
and Young People Displaying Harmful 
Sexual Behaviours, London, NSPCC. 

 ■ AIM2 Model of Initial Assessment (G-Map, 
2012)

8.0
Sub-Group Task and Finish Group  
Summary Reports/Effectiveness

The Harmful Sexual Behaviour Protocol was 
recommended to PPYPS and was approved by 
the Board in June 2017.

 
8.2 CSE Protocol and CSE Strategy Task and 
Finish Group

The PPYPS also commissioned a task and finish 
group to revise Merton’s CSE Protocol and our 
CSE Strategy. The task and finish group included 
the CSE Lead Practitioner, representation from 
the Police, Health (including Merton CCG), 
Children’s Social Care, Education, Commissioners.

8.2.1 The CSE Strategy

The CSE Strategy was last updated in January 
2015. Since that time the Board has reviewed its 
CSE protocol, the DfE has also refined its definition 
of CSE, the London Child Protection Procedures 
have been updated, and there is also a growing 
body of evidence and practice development 
around contextual safeguarding. The Strategy sets 
out the MSCB’s response to CSE.

The statutory definition of CSE has been 
updated. The strategy makes the link between 
CSE, Harmful Sexual Behaviour and other shared 
categories of harm/exploitation including missing; 
Harmful Sexual Behaviour, teenage relationship 
abuse, serious youth violence, CSE and 
radicalisation (see pages 5-7). The CSE strategy 
was approved by the Board in May 2017.

The strategy also highlights the significance of 
contextual safeguarding drawing on the work 
of Carlene Firmin (2013 and 2016). Information 
regarding the local context has been updated. 
Related to this is a new section on working 
with children and young people affected by 
CSE drawing on the work of University of 
Bedfordshire, the International Centre for 
Researching CSE, Violence and Trafficking and 
Research In Practice (2017).

9 The London Child Protection Procedures, 5th Edition: 
Chapter 7. Safeguarding Children from Sexual Exploitation 
(Part B3 Safeguarding Children Practice Guidance); 
Chapter 8. Organised and Complex Abuse (Part A: Core 
Procedures). In cases where there is more than one victim 
and/or perpetrator Chapter 8 must be followed; Chapter 10 
Safeguarding Sexually Active Children (Part B3 Safeguarding 
Children Practice Guidance) Chapter 15 Children Harming 
Others (Part B3 Safeguarding Children Practice Guidance). 

Page 51



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1844

8.3 Mental Health Protocol Task and Finish 
Group

A task and finish group was formed to develop 
a multi-agency mental health protocol. The 
document was drafted jointly by Merton 
Safeguarding Children Board and Merton 
Safeguarding Adults Children Board, which 
includes the Clinical Commissioning Group, South 
West London St George’s Mental Health Trust. 
There was also consultation with commissioned 
services, voluntary organisations, young carers 
and parents who suffer from poor mental health. 

This protocol is important for the safeguarding 
of children and families in Merton. It should be 
read and implemented when necessary by staff 
who deliver services to children and young 
people whose parents or carers have mental 
health problems, and staff who deliver services 
to adults who are parents or carers with mental 
health problems. The protocol applies equally 
to pregnant women and their partners where 
there are concerns about their mental health. 
The protocol also applies to adults with mental 
health problems who have contact with a child 
or children, even if they are not a parent or carer; 
for example, siblings, lodgers, family visitors, 
babysitters or childminders.

The protocol was approved by the MSCB and 
SAB in March 2018.

 
8.4 The Young Carers Strategy Task and Finish 
Group

The Young Carers Task and Finish Group 
comprised of colleagues in Children’s Social 
Care, Health, the Mental Health Trust, Adult 
Social Care, Merton Carer Support and other 
voluntary organisations. The proposed Young 
Carers strategy sets out how Merton council, 
and its partners will bring about improvements 
in the way services work together to identify, 
assess and improve outcomes for young people 
with caring responsibilities. This strategy aims to 
build on the priorities of the Merton Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, to ‘Think Family’ in its collective 

partnership approach to fostering positive 
outcomes for children and young people. It also 
forms our collective response to lessons drawn 
from Serious Case Reviews, including our own 
local example. 

The priorities for change, identified within this 
strategy, have first and foremost been developed 
through listening to the voice of our local young 
carers and are agreed by the range of agencies 
and professionals that work with children and 
families across the health, education, social care 
and voluntary sector. The strategy sets out what 
actions will be taken to achieve our priorities and 
identifies the resources needed to meet these. 
The strategy will be presented to the Board for 
approval in September 2018.

Page 52



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 45

The Section 11 Process for 2016-2017

At the Business Implementation Meeting held on 
7th February 2017, it was agreed that the Section 
11 process for 2016-2017 would include the full 
submission of each agency’s Section 11 Self-Audit 
return for 2016-2017. 

Merton Schools contribute to a separate 
safeguarding audit which feeds into the Section 
11 Process.

The MSCB Section 11 process is managed in two 
parts:

Part A is a self-audit based on the pan-London 
Section 11 Audit Tool. The audit tool allows each 
agency/organisation to assess the quality of 
its safeguarding practice against eight agreed 
safeguarding standards providing supporting 
evidence where appropriate. These standards are 
as follows:

STANDARD 1 – Senior management have 
commitment to the importance of safeguarding 
and promoting children’s welfare

STANDARD 2 – There is a clear statement of 
the agency’s responsibility towards children 
and this is available to all staff

9.0
Agency Effectiveness in Safeguarding – reports for each key 
agency drawing on Section 11 and QA and Challenge Meetings

STANDARD 3 – There is a clear line of 
accountability within the organisation for work 
on safeguarding and promoting welfare

STANDARD 4 – Service development takes into 
account the need to safeguard and promote 
welfare and is informed, where appropriate, by 
the views of children & families

STANDARD 5 – There is effective training 
on safeguarding & promoting the welfare of 
children for all staff working with or, depending 
on the agency’s primary functions, in contact 
with children & families

STANDARD 6 – Safer recruitment procedures 
including vetting procedures and those for 
managing allegations are in place

STANDARD 7 – There is effective inter-agency 
working to safeguard & promote the welfare of 
children

STANDARD 8 – There is effective Information 
Sharing

Page 53



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1846

Agency Returns

The MSCB has received completed returns from 
the following agencies:

1. British Transport Police (pan-London return)

2. CAFCASS (pan-London return)

3. LBM Adult Social Care

4. LBM CSF Children’s Social Care

5. LBM Early Intervention and Prevention 
Commissioned Services

6. LBM Early Years, Childcare and Children’s 
Centre Services

7. LBM Education Inclusion

8. LBM Public Health

9. LBM Housing Needs

10. LBM Safer Merton

11. LBM Youth Justice

12. London Ambulance Service (pan-London 
return)

13. Metropolitan Police Service (Borough and 
SOECA) Safeguarding Report (Service Wide)

14. Metropolitan Police Service Safeguarding 
Report (SOECA Service Wide)

15. Merton Voluntary Service Council (MVSC, 
representing Merton Voluntary organisations)

16. NHS Central London Community Health Care

17. NHS Epsom and St Helier NHS Trust

18. NHS Merton CCG

19. NHS South West London St George’s Mental 
Health NHS Trust (including CAMHs and 
Adult Mental Health)

20. NHS St George’s Hospital (Section 11 Report)

21. National Probation Service (a regional, pan-
London return)

The section 11 self-audit returns received provide 
the Board with good assurance regarding the 
quality of safeguarding practice across the MSCB 
partnership. Where agencies assessed that 
standards were met there were, in most cases, 
action plans, with clear timescales and named 
persons to address this.

National or regional services (such as, CAFCASS 
and Probation) submitted more ‘global’ self-
assessments were asked to ensure that there is an 
addendum which gives assurance for Merton. 

Schools were not asked specifically to complete 
a section 11 audit in this round. A safeguarding 
systems audit for each school had been 
undertaken in the autumn term 2017 and reported 
to the MSCB in January 2018. 

Part B is a series of Peer Challenge Meetings. 
It was agreed that Quality Assurance and 
Challenge Meetings would be held with each key 
agency. It was agreed that the Peer Challenge 
was helpful and that it was valuable to involve 
a Lay Member, where possible. The involvement 
of Commissioners was also seen as helpful as it 
enabled the Chair and the Director of Children, 
Schools and Families to challenge commissioned 
services regarding improving the quality of their 
safeguarding practice.

The purpose of these meetings were as follows:

1. To ensure agency compliance and provide 
an additional level of scrutiny of the 
evidence presented by each agency

2. To challenge each agency as ‘critical friend’

3. The process is designed to be helpful and 
developmental for each agency.

Page 54



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 47

Quality Assurance and Peer Challenge meetings 
were held for each agency organised as follows:

1. Public Protection and the Police: Including 
National Probation, Police (Borough and 
CAIT), Safer Merton

2. Community and Housing: including Adult 
Social Care, Housing Needs and Public Health

3. Health Agencies: including CLCH, Epsom 
and St Helier NHS Trust, St George’s NHS 
Trust, South West London and St George’s 
Mental Health Services, Merton CCG

4. Children’s Services: including Children’s 
Social Care, Youth Justice, Early Years, Early 
Help and Commissioned Services, Education 
Inclusion.

These meeting were held between 25th 
September 2017 and the 17th November 2017. 

The agenda for each meeting included the 
following general pattern and was tailored to 
each agency. 

1. Notes/Actions from previous Annual QA 
Meeting / Performance Meeting 

2. Review of Section 11 Compliance 
Agencies’ self-review of work to safeguard 
children April 2016 – March 2017 

3. Relevant agency data showing impact of 
safeguarding children from the agency 
perspective. (Agency to make available how 
it monitors its safeguarding performance)

4. Agency support to the MSCB and Sub 
Groups (Membership, Attendance) 

5. Learning and Improvement (Agency and 
Multi-Agency Learning and Development; 
take up of MSCB Training/Briefings), 

a. Implementing relevant learning from SCRs 

• Child B 

• Baby C

6. Agency Performance Regarding the 
Safeguarding of Care leavers and Looked 
After Children

7. Agency Update of Work in Relation to Child 
Sexual Exploitation

8. Implementing new guidance: 

Revised Working Together 2015 

Revised guidance to schools 2016 

Revised Information Sharing Guidance 2015 

and 

Merton Information Sharing Protocol 2015. 

 
Her Majesty’s Inspectors found that:

There is an exceptionally effective section 
11 process. The incisive analysis through the 
annual peer challenge and review meeting 
process ensures appropriate and respectful 
challenge of partners’ compliance with 
safeguarding standards and seeks assurance 
of impact on practice. All senior agency 
representatives attend these annual challenge 
sessions. Partners spoken to by inspectors said 
that they found the process to be rigorous but 
supportive.10 

 
10 The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services 

and Skills (Ofsted) (2017) Inspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, children looked after and 
care leavers and Review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.

Page 55



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1848

9.2 Children, Schools and Families (CSF) 
Department

CSF department completed section 11 audits for 
CSC; Early Years; the Youth Service, Education 
Inclusion and the FAS (including Youth Justice). 
The CSF departmental return provided the Board 
with good assurance regarding the quality of 
children’s safeguarding.

9.3 Acute Trusts

Merton does not have an acute trust located 
in the Borough however there is an effective 
relationship with acute trusts in the neighbouring 
boroughs of Sutton, Wandsworth, Croydon, 
Lambeth and Kingston. 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Personal Development, Behaviour 
and Welfare (primary)

National
as at

31/3/18

London
as at

31/3/18

Personal Development, Behaviour 
and Welfare (secondary)

Personal Development, Behaviour 
and Welfare (special)

Personal Development, Behaviour 
and Welfare (PRU)

Overall E�ectiveness (all schools)

Overall E�ectiveness (primary)

Overall E�ectiveness (secondary)

Overall E�ectiveness (special)

Overall E�ectiveness (PRU)

Merton 2016/17 (final)

Merton 2017/18 (most recent)

91%

96%

86% 92%

87% 93%

76% 87%

92% 93%

83% 93%

88%

93%

82%

91%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

9.1.1 Schools

Ofsted inspection outcomes rated good or better

Page 56



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 49

9.3.1 SW London & St George’s Mental Health 
Trust

South West London and St George’s Mental 
Health Trust completed Section 11 Self-audit. The 
Trust was involved in the Section 11 Challenge 
Meeting.

9.3.2 Epsom and St Helier NHS Trust

The Trust and the service provider completed 
a Section 11 Self-audit and attended Quality 
Assurance Challenge meetings, which gave the 
Board assurance that the Trust is fulfilling its 
statutory duties under Section 11 of the Children 
Act 2004.

9.3.3 NHS Merton Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG)

The Merton CCG has completed a Section 11 
Self-audit and has attended Quality Assurance 
and Challenge meetings which gave the Board 
assurance that the CCG is fulfilling it statutory 
responsibilities under Section 11 of the children 
Act 2004.

9.3.4 St George’s Hospital NHS Trust

The Trust completed a safeguarding survey as 
part of their Section 11 submission to the Board. 
The Trust also provided a range of supplementary 
evidence which gave the Board assurance that 
the Trust was fulfilling its statutory responsibilities 
in relation to Section 11 of the Children Act 2004.

9.3.5 Central London Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust

The Trust was awarded the community health 
care contract from the first of April 2016. The 
trust completed their Section 11 submission 
to the Board for 2017. The Trust also provided 
supplementary evidence which gave the Board 
assurance that the Trust was fulfilling its statutory 
responsibilities in relation to Section 11 of the 
Children Act 2004.

9.3.6 Public Health 

The Director of Public Health sits on the Board 
and is a strong partner. The Director of Children, 
Schools and Families is also a member of the 
Health and Well-being Board. The Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment also informs the priorities of 
the Board’s Bi-Annual Business Plan. Public Health 
completed a Section 11 Self-audit that gave the 
Board assurance that the Public Health is fulfilling 
its statutory responsibilities in relation to Section 
11 of the Children Act 2004. 

 
9.4 Community and Housing Dept. – London 
Borough of Merton

Community and Housing Department completed 
Section 11 Audits for Public Health, Adult Social 
Care and Housing and participated in the Quality 
Assurance Challenge Meetings. Representatives 
of the Housing Needs team and the Safeguarding 
Manager of Clarion Housing, Merton’s largest 
Registered Social Landlord and housing provider 
attends meetings of the Board.

 
9.5 Corporate Service – HR – London Borough 
of Merton

A section 11 audit of the council’s safer 
recruitment and employment practices was 
undertaken. The council has also re-issued advice 
to schools in the period covering revisions to the 
vetting and barring arrangements and on the DfE 
guidance on disqualification by association. In 
addition to this, the Board provides safeguarding 
training to all new members of staff as part of the 
Corporate Induction process.

 
9.6 Metropolitan Police/Probation/Cafcass

Regional Section 11 returns have been completed 
by all three organisations. The Metropolitan 
Police have completed returns for the Borough 
Command and CAIT. The Police have included 
local information and analysis. The Borough 
Command and CAIT are strong partners in the 
work of the Board and its Sub-Groups.

Page 57



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1850

10.1 Merton’s Children’s Trust User Voice 
Strategy

This year we have further embedded our 
commitment to ensure that, through their 
everyday practice, practitioners and managers 
put children’s and families’ wishes and feelings 
at the centre of decision making and planning 
about their care. We have formulated and started 
to embed ‘Merton’s Practice Model for Social 
Work’ along with a programme of skills training 
in methods which facilitate this approach, which 
aims to deliver services which are child and 
family led and responsive to the needs of the 
people they serve. In addition, we have refreshed 
our Quality Assurance Framework which aims to 
evaluate and continuously improve the ‘practice 
model’, supporting the development of ‘a culture 
which values learning from frontline practice and 
the lived experiences of children and families’, 
and involves direct conversations with children 
and families.

Children and young people have been supported 
to participate in their child protection (CP) 
conference, and the most common method by 
which their views have been represented this year 
has been via the social work report. 

We have implemented the Signs of Safety 
approach to CP Conferences, and the majority of 
parents who have attended conferences this year 
based on this model (September 2016-February 
2017) have told us that after the conference:

 ■ They know what to do to keep their child safe

 ■ They understand what the worries are

 ■ Child’s view was an important part of the 
meeting

 ■ They felt listened to and treated with 
respect 

 ■ They feel involved and that collaborative 
working is taking place.

 

10.0
Views of Children and Young People and the Community 

In 2017-2018, a high proportion of Looked After 
Children have participated in their review 
this year – between 97.8 to 100% – and the 
most common method has been by the young 
person attending the meeting and speaking for 
themselves. The independent advocacy service 
has supported 17 young people this year to have 
their voices heard at their LAC review.

We have piloted the new ‘Merton Model’ of 
LAC reviews based on the ‘Sheffield Model’ of 
good practice. The pilot meetings have received 
very positive feedback from young people who 
feel listened to and more involved, and from 
practitioners who say that the approach supports 
the child to express their views in a range of 
ways, and creates a child centred meeting.

Teams across children’s social care have 
embedded a range of child and family centred 
practice approaches – Signs of Safety, 
Motivational Interviewing, Tightrope®, Helping 
Families Programme – as part of ‘Merton’s 
Practice Model for Social Work’. The response to 
these approaches by both users and practitioners 
is very positive:

 ■ Children and families are supported to 
express themselves in a range of ways and 
report ‘feeling listened to’.

 ■ Users are empowered to identify their own 
needs and strengths, and be their own 
agents of change. 

 ■ Users and practitioners are working in 
partnership to achieve positive outcomes.

 
 
Merton’s SEN Team takes a ‘partnership’ 
approach to working with children and families 
to produce Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCP) for children with SEN and Disabilities, 
to ensure that their views are central to the 
process. Feedback from parents who have been 
supported by the team this year suggest that 
parents are confident that EHCPs are meeting 
their child’s needs and supporting their future 
achievements and well-being. 

Page 58



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 51

This year’s case review and learning (audit) 
overview reports have identified evidence of good 
practice including:

 ■ Capturing the child’s voice in the 
assessment and plan.

 ■ Being proactive in building a relationship 
with a young person.

 ■ Listening to child’s wishes and feelings led 
to a change in care plan.

 
 
Merton’s Information and Advice Support 
Service (IASS) Officer has continued to provide 
support to parents and carers of children with 
SEN and disabilities who are going through the 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) process. 
This year feedback from parents has highlighted 
that the service:

 ■ Facilitated partnership working with the 
family and across agencies to access the 
right support for the child.

 ■ Worked closely with the family to support 
a move from mainstream to specialist 
provision.

 ■ Supported year 7 transitions to secondary 
schools within the specialist sector, and 
within the mainstream sector, managing 
anxieties and ensuing that all necessary 
support was accessed. 

 
Providing opportunities for children and young 
people to influence key decision makers 

This year, our commitment to providing a range of 
participation opportunities for all children and young 
people has been further enhanced by the launch of 
the new dedicated Young People’s Participation and 
Engagement Service. The service has implemented 
a new strategy which will modernise our existing 
‘participation promise’, implement a structure 
to increase the accessibility of participation 
opportunities, deliver guidance and training to 
the borough’s youth organisations to ensure that 
they deliver ‘ethical and meaningful’ participation, 
and improve evaluation and quality assurance 
processes to ensure the continuous improvement 
of participation activity across the borough. 

Through a range of young people’s forums/
groups, including – Merton Youth Parliament, 
Young Inspectors, Pollard’s Hill Youth Committee, 

Page 59



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1852

and school based ‘pupil voice’ activities – youth 
led conferences; and ‘positive activities’ groups 
including Merton Police Cadets – Merton’s young 
people have influenced a range of issues which 
affect their lives. Notable participation activity 
includes: 

 ■ Developing the Merton Youth Parliament 
(MYP) constitution, and the local strategy 
for the wider participation of children and 
young people. 

 ■ Taking part and winning the mental health 
debate competition held at Facebook 
headquarters. 

 ■ Contributing ideas for the development of 
a new health and community campus in 
Mitcham. 

 ■ Delivering the HealthFest conference to 
promote health and well-being. 

 ■ Informing the tendering, commissioning 
and recruitment process for Merton’s Risk 
and Resilience Service.

 ■ Feeding back on the new design of 
the ‘Getting it on’ website which gives 
information on sexual health and drugs 
and alcohol services for teenagers in South 
West London.

 ■ Undertaking training, delivered by Public 
Health, to complete a review of local take 
away food outlets. 

 ■ Leading on decision making for Pollard’s 
Hill Youth Centre.

 ■ Delivering a conference supporting the 
emotional health and well-being of LGBT+ 
(lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, plus) 
young people. 

 ■ Shaping teaching and learning 
improvement action plans for individual 
schools in the borough. 

 ■ Taking part in European Union and United 
Nations ‘parallel’ conferences for pupils.

 ■ Merton Police Cadets supported Merton’s 
16 Days against Domestic Violence event, 
providing “front of house” meet and greet, 
and welcoming guests.

Through a range of research, consultations and 
surveys this year young people have told us the 
following, which will be used to inform a number 
of key strategic action plans:

 ■ Their top concerns are: gangs, bullying, 
online victimisation, sexual exploitation, 
and physical harm (Young People’s Views 
on Safeguarding)11; and gangs, crime and 
littering (Young Residents’ Survey, (YRS).

 ■ Where young people have concerns 
about their safety they are most likely to 
seek help from friends, parents, or other 
family member (Young People’s Views on 
Safeguarding)12; or family, teacher or Police 
(YRS).

 ■ Young people give the highest satisfaction 
rating to libraries, primary schools and 
public transport (YRS).

 ■ They are satisfied with the local area as a 
place to live – 94% (YRS).

 ■ Merton listens to the concerns of young 
people – 47% (YRS).

 ■ The top three solutions to supporting 
children to lead healthier lives are (Merton 
Great Weight Debate):

1. Less marketing and advertising of high 
fat and sugary food and drink.

2. Cheaper healthy food and drink.

3. Support for families to cook healthier food. 

 ■ They have a clear vision for the development 
of the new community health campus in 
Mitcham (at The Wilson), as a welcoming, 
accessible place, with a sense of community, 
which supports the diverse needs of 
local people. (East Merton Community 
Conversation).

 

11 March 2017, MSCB and London South Bank University.
12 As before.

Page 60



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 53

The Board remains on a journey of continuous 
improvement; seeking to sharpen our focus 
and streamline our processes so that we 
are increasingly able to fulfil our statutory 
responsibilities in relation to safeguarding children 
and young people and promoting their welfare. We 
are pleased with the Outstanding rating by HMI 
Ofsted; however, we are in no way complacent.

Our partnership is mature and robust and is 
characterised by respectful challenge and 
accountability. The Sub-Groups are purposeful 
and targeted on delivering on the Board’s agreed 
priorities. The Board’s Performance Dataset allows 
the Board to analyse trends and identify risk or 
gaps as well as prioritise areas for development.

At the Board’s Annual Away Day in March it was 
agreed that the Board would focus on effectively 
managing the transition from statutory Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards to Safeguarding 
Partnerships under the Children and Social Work 
Act 2017. We will continue to focus on fewer 
priority safeguarding items whilst continuing 
to deliver on a range of key ‘Business as Usual’ 
issues. Members of the Board have agreed the 
following priorities for the period 2018-2019:

1. Managing the arrangements for the transition 
from Merton Local Safeguarding Children 
Board to the Merton Safeguarding Children 
Partnership

In 2019 the Board will see the dissolution of 
LSCBs and the establishment of Safeguarding 
Partnerships. In addition to reviewing the 
progress that the Board has made to date, we 
will need to develop clear plans about the future 
shape and direction of the Board.

The MSCB is Outstanding with no recommendations 
regarding improvements. Building from this 
secure base, the Board has agreed not to radically 
change its constitution but to use the Children 
and Social Care Act 2017 as an opportunity 
to strengthen our partnership to ensure that 
safeguarding children remains a priority for 
all partners in our safeguarding system and to 
ensure the most effective representation from 
statutory and other key partners in the work of 

11.0
Conclusions and Priorities for 2018–19 Business Years 

safeguarding Merton’s children and families and 
promoting their welfare.

At the Board’s Away Day it was agreed that a task 
and finish group would be established to propose 
the arrangements for the establishment of 
Safeguarding Partnership. A task and finish group 
has been appointed by the Board to explore options 
for the new Partnership and make recommendations.

2. Think Family – to support children and adults 
in our most vulnerable families to reduce risk 
and ensure improved outcomes. 

A great deal of work has been undertaken 
to embed Think Family as an approach to 
interventions with children and families across 
both adults and children’s services. We are 
making good progress in ensuring that our 
partnerships enable the most vulnerable families 
to be supported; that vulnerable parents are 
enabled to care for their children and children are 
in turn receive the care they need to thrive and 
achieve their potential. Evidence from local and 
national research tells us that our most vulnerable 
parents/families are those who: 

 ■ Experience poor mental health, 

 ■ Struggle with substance misuse, 

 ■ Are affected by domestic abuse, 

 ■ Parents with learning difficulties that 
may affect their ability to respond to the 
changing needs of their children.

 
The evidence nationally and locally also shows that 
vulnerable families are best supported when there is 
effective joint working between adult and children 
facing services. When professionals understand 
the underlying causes of issues like neglect and 
other forms of abuse and offer effective support 
early before these problems get worse.

Building on this work, the Board is seeking 
to drive improvements in our practice with 
vulnerable families so that stigma is reduced and 
families with poor mental health and substance 
misuse issues will feel confident in seeking help 
and support. We will also assure ourselves that 

Page 61



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1854

practitioners are supported with the skills and 
confident to engage with all families including:

 ■ Families with whom we find it difficult to 
engage

 ■ Families who we experience as challenging 
(for a variety of reasons including social 
class – evidence from practice and SCRs 
show that affluent families can pose distinct 
challenges to multi-agency safeguarding 
systems resulting in harm to children; 
families who present as ‘powerful’ etc.).

 
The Board is also seeking to further highlight the 
important role of schools, educational and early 
years’ establishments, as a critical safeguarding 
partner.

3. Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents – 
adolescence is a time of significant change 
for all young people. 

We know that, for some young people, 
adolescence is a time of particular vulnerability. 
We are determined to support adolescents who 
are at risk of:

 ■ Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

 ■ Going missing from home/school/care 

 ■ Radicalisation and violent extremism 

 ■ Serious youth violence and gangs

 ■ Criminal and other forms of exploitation 
including county lines, peer on peer abuse 
and harmful sexual behaviour

 ■ Self-harm and poor mental health para-
suicide.

 
The Board is seeking to develop a strategic 
response to contextual safeguarding. In particular 
we are seeking to develop a coordinated 
response to adolescent risk/harm which occurs 
outside of the family home in spaces such as the 
neighbourhood, school, community centres and 
housing estates. 

The Board would also like to be more systematic 
regarding its work in listening to children and 

allowing them to shape the services that are 
provided to them. The Merton User Voice Strategy 
outlines the variety of ways in which the views 
and opinions of children and young people are 
considered. The Board would like this to be more 
coordinated so that these views and opinions 
can more strongly influence the ways we support 
families and keeps children safe, and so that the 
impact of our work with children, young people and 
their families can be measured more effectively.

4. Early Help – To develop an early help system 
that is responsive and effectively prevents 
escalation of concerns. 

Merton has reviewed it Children Young People 
and Families Well-Being Model. We are now 
reviewing our Early Help (EH) and Preventative 
work; in particular we are exploring models for 
coordinating preventative and early help across 
the well-being model. As part of our review we will:

 ■ Consider the interface between our MASH 
and EH arrangements

 ■ Review our service offer at all levels of 
the Merton Well Being Model and engage 
partners in discussion on thresholds, clarify 
Step-Up Step-Down processes and the 
tools to support early help assessment 
CASA and intervention (Signs of Safety/
Signs of Well-Being)

 ■ Review the arrangement for the quality 
assurance of EH and Preventative work.

 
Addressing the incidence and impact of neglect is 
a cross-cutting theme that runs across the work 
of the Board and each of our priorities.

This Business Plan contains the MSCB priority 
actions. The on-going work of the MSCB and its 
Sub-Groups and Task Groups continues alongside 
it and will be incorporated into the Sub-Groups’ 
annual work plans and reporting cycle to the MSCB. 

The MSCB continues to work to drive 
improvements in the quality of safeguarding 
practice in Merton. The partnership remains 
strong and is well positioned to meet the 
challenges ahead. 

Page 62



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 55

Appendix 1
Merton Safeguarding Children Board
Business Plan 2017–19

Progress of this Plan will be updated monthly & monitored at each MSCB Meeting. 
Presented to the Board June 2018.

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

1.  For Merton Safeguarding Children Board to Make the Transition to Merton Safeguarding Children 
Partnerships

1.1 To establish a 
task and finish 
group which will 
explore options 
for effective 
safeguarding 
partnerships.  
This group will:

(a) draft a 
constitution/
partnership 
agreement for 
the Merton 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership

and 

(b) propose a 
partnership 
agreement 
which will 
form the legal 
basis for the 
partnership

The new partnership 
to consider the 
following:

• Membership

a) Partners

b) Relevant agencies

• Geographical 
Footprint 

• Leadership and 
governance?

• Independent 
Scrutiny

• Quality Assurance

• Training and Practice 
Development

• Funding

• Dispute Resolution

• Listening and 
responding to 
children

The Independent 
Chair

Assistant Director of 
Children’s Social Care 
and Youth Inclusion

The Director of 
Education

Senior 
Representative from 
the Police

Senior 
Representative from 
the CCG

Senior 
Representation from 
Housing

MSCB Business 
Manager

A task and 
finish group 
comprised of 
key partners 
are to explore 
options and 
propose 
a draft 
partnership 
agreement to 
the Board for 
sign off

The MSCB 
partnership 
and Strategic 
Boards

CCG Rep

MPS BCU 
Rep

Education 
Rep

CSC Rep

Housing Rep

HWBB Rep

Lead 
Member

January 
2019; with a 
view to the 
Board being 
dissolved 
31st March 
2019 and 
constituted 
as a 
safeguarding 
partnership 
from 1st April

Page 63



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1856

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

2. Think Family – looking beyond symptoms and supporting families with particular vulnerabilities 
(with a focus on neglect as a cross-cutting theme)

2.1 To embed the 
Think Family 
Approach across 
the multi-agency 
partnership

We want to make it 
easier for all types of 
families to access help 
and support without 
stigma or blame.

Especially families 
experiencing DVA, 
mental health, 
substance misuse, 
disability

To approve the 
DVA Strategy

To Implement the 
Mental Health 
Protocol

To approve and 
implement a 
Parental Substance 
Misuse Protocol

To approve 
Protocol for 
Supporting Parents 
with disabilities

The Think 
Family 
Strategic 
Board to 
further embed 
multi-agency 
work across 
adult and 
children’s 
services

CMc

Policy  
Sub-Group 

Substance 
Misuse 
Commissioned 
Service

Policy  
Sub-Group 
to agree key 
agencies

Policy  
Sub-Group

January 2019

We want all our 
practitioners to be 
skilled at working with 
all types of families 
and are positive at 
engaging with them

To review our 
training offer 
to ensure that 
practitioners 
have access to 
appropriate training

To seek assurance 
from agencies 
that supervisory 
arrangements 
provide support 
with regard to 
authoritative 
practice with 
families

Learning and 
Development 
Sub-Group

Section 11 and 
challenge 
Process

Learning and 
Development 
Sub-Group

January 2019

November 
– December 
2018

To scope out a 
framework that 
supports schools, 
educational and early 
years institutions 
involvement in leading 
and developing multi-
agency safeguarding 
arrangements and 
improvements in the 
quality of practice

To work with 
schools, 
educational 
and early years 
institutions to 
ensure that they 
have the capacity 
and confidence to 
lead preventative 
multi-agency 
safeguarding

The Think 
Family 
Strategic 
Group

The BIG January 2019

Page 64



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 57

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

2. Think Family – looking beyond symptoms and supporting families with particular vulnerabilities 
(with a focus on neglect as a cross-cutting theme)

2.2 To maintain a 
focus on neglect 
as a form of harm 
requiring a skilled, 
urgent multi-
agency response

To feedback key 
practice lessons 
from the audit

To integrate 
these lessons into 
current training 
and practice 
development 
initiatives  

What Who QA Sub-
Group and 
BIG

Head CSC 
&YI QA Chair 
Paul Angeli

March 
2019

QA Sub-Group and 
MSCB partners to 
conduct a multi-agency 
audit of neglect cases

To add Neglect to the 
Section 11 Self-audit

All relevant 
MSCB partners 
including
Health (CCG, 
CLCH, acute 
trusts, Mental 
Health Trust), 
Education, 
Police, CSC, 
Voluntary Orgs.

To report to the 
Board on the 
outcome of the 
Neglect Tool 
Pilot and to make 
recommendations 
for the use of this 
tool in Merton

MSCB to adopt and 
promote a range of 
practice tools to address 
neglect

Carla Thomas

CSC

Health 

Police

Education

Early Years

QA Sub-
Group and 
Learning and 
Development 
Sub-Groups 

MSCB BSU 

March 
2019

For the Board to be 
assured that there is 
a clear link between 
the work on neglect 
including the trigger 
trio and Think 
Family

Multi-agency partners 
to demonstrate an 
understanding neglect 
as an effect, with the 
trigger trio, in many 
cases, being the cause

MSCB partners 
including, SAB
Health (CCG, 
CLCH, acute 
trusts, Mental 
Health Trust), 
Public Health 
Education, 
Police, CSC, 
Voluntary Orgs.

Policy and 
Quality 
Assurance 
Sub-Group

Chair

March 
2019 

Page 65



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1858

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

3. Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents

3.1 Listening and 
responding to 
the voices of 
children and 
young people

We listen to young 
people and their lived 
experience

We will identify 
coordinate the various 
ways in which we hear 
from young people and 
ensure that the Board 
has oversight.  We will 
also ensure that the 
voice of the child and 
the family is heard in 
the commissioning and 
delivery of services

The BIG To review the user voice 
strategy

For the Board to 
agree on-going ways 
to secure the of the 
child in the work of the 
Board

MSCB January 
2019

3.2 We understand 
ASD and social 
communication 
disorders 
and provide 
appropriate 
support to 
children and 
families and 
practitioners

To ensure that the 
Board is sighted on the 
Implementation of the 
ASD Strategy

CAMHs 
Transformation 
Group

To ensure that the risks 
to children and young 
people with ASD are 
managed effectively

PPYPS January 
2019

3.3 Promoting 
Good Mental 
Health for 
Adolescents 
(12-18 year-
olds)

We support good 
adolescent mental health 
and emotional well-
being – we are clear on 
the difference between 
‘normal’ adolescent 
behaviour, inappropriate 
behaviour needing a 
parental response and 
adolescent mental health

We want to strengthen 
the link between 
commissioned services, 
schools and families 
(where appropriate)

All agencies
Commissioners 
and 
commissioned 
services
Secondary 
Schools

Promote good mental 
health to more children 
and young people 
across the safeguarding 
system.

Champion the voices 
of Merton young 
people and parents to 
influence mental health 
policy and practice.

To work with 
commissioners and 
commissioned services 
to ensure effective, 
integrated services

PPYPS  
Sub-Group

March 
2019 

3.4 Reducing 
Incidents of 
Self-harm and 
preventing 
adolescent 
suicide

To work with the 
CAMHs strategic group 
to develop a suicide 
prevention strategy

To review the Self-Harm 
Protocol

CAMHs

PPYPS

Acute Trusts

Red Thread

Policy Sub-
Group

To develop a Suicide 
Prevention Strategy

To review the 
implementation of the 
Self-harm Protocol

PPYP and 
Policy Sub-
Groups

March 
2019

Page 66



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 59

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

3. Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents

3.5 Developing 
a Strategic 
response to 
Contextual 
Safeguarding

We have an effective, joined-
up contextual safeguarding 
response to overlapping 
adolescent risks including:

• CSE 

• gangs and county lines, 
serious youth violence 

• peer on peer abuse 

• harmful sexual behaviour 

• adolescent substance misuse

PPYPS

YJT

Transforming 
Families

MPS

To develop 
a contextual 
safeguarding 
strategy

To ensure that 
the strategy is 
underpinned 
by a process to 
manage and review 
adolescent risk 
related to peers, 
space and place

PPYPS January 
2019

Objectives Outcomes Actions (who and what)
Resources

Governance/
oversight

When?

4. Skilled and coordinated Prevention at all levels of need

4.1 Skilled and 
coordinated 
Prevention at all 
levels of need

Effective coordination and QA 
of early help

Early Help 
Task and Finish 
Group

To exploring 
models for 
coordinating early 
help, preventative 
services

MSCB 

Children’s 
Trust

March 
2019

Ensuring effective preventative 
services at all levels of the 
MWBM

Early Help 
Task and Finish 
Group

To have clarity 
regarding Merton’s 
Early Help/
preventative 
services offer

MSCB 

Children’s 
Trust

March 
2019

Integrating signs of safety 
as a part of a preventative 
response (a shared language 
and approach for families, 
professionals and services)

Signs of Safety 
Steering Group

To provide training 
to multi-agency 
managers and lead 
practitioners

MSCB

Signs of 
Safety 
Steering 
Group

March 
2019

Page 67



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1860

Appendix 2
MSCB Structure

MSCB

Business 
Implementation 

Group

Quality 
Assurance/

Business & Audit

Learning & 
Development Policy

Promote & 
Protect Young 

People/MASE**

** MASE Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation Group 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) and the 
Joint Human Resources Sub-Group  
The MSCB will commission Task and Finish 
Groups as required. 

The MSCB Chair may commission a Panel to 
undertake SCRs or LIRs.

Reporting  
Sub-Groups will routinely report to the MSCB 
on their work plans as follows; and where 
required by exception:

Quality Assurance 
–  Multi-Agency data – quarterly in arrears

–  Lessons from quality assurance at each 
MSCB meeting 

Learning and Development  
– twice per year 

Policy  
– twice per year

Promote and Protect Young People  
– twice per year

–  Quality and aggregated lessons arising from 
case monitoring in Promote & Protect/MASE 
meetings will be reported via QA and to the 
MSCB 

HR Sub-Group  
– once per year

MASH Strategic Board  
– meets monthly

VAWG Board
–  The Merton VAWG Strategic Board meets 

four times per year

CDOP 
– once per year, usually through the CDOP 

Annual Report

The Sub-Groups will work together to ensure that Policy Development and Learning and Development 
reflect lessons being learned through QA and PPYP.

Page 68



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 61

Appendix 3
Membership

Membership of MSCB has been agreed as follows:

P Statutory Partner 

S Statutory Sector Partner 

C Co-opted 

V Voting 

PO Participant Observer 

SA Statutory Advisor 

A Advisor 

B Board support

Statutory Partners will nominate an agreed senior 
Agency Deputy who is able to speak and take 
decisions on their Agency’s behalf.

Sector Partners will cover each other and do not 
require a deputy for their own agency.

Page 69



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/1862

MSCB

Independent Chair   Casting Vote

P Vice Chair to be drawn from the Statutory Members

P V Chief Officer, Merton Clinical Commissioning Group

P V NHS England (London)

P V Chief Nurse, Central London Community Healthcare Services

P V Sutton & Merton Service Director, SW London & St George’s MH Trust

P V Consultant Child and Adolescent Psychiatrist, SW London & St George’s 

P V St George’s Healthcare NHS Trust

P V Borough Commander, Met Police

P V DCI, Child Abuse Investigation Team, Met Police

P V Assistant Chief Officer, London Probation

P V Assistant Chief Officer, The London Community Rehabilitation Company Limited

S V Lay Members (Two) – 1 vacant

S V Voluntary Sector Agency (Two) – vacant

P V Director, Children Schools & Families

P V Assistant Director for CSC & YI, CSF

P V Assistant Director for Education, CSF

C V Director of Public Health Merton, Community & Housing

C V Safeguarding Adults Manager, Community & Housing

C V Housing Needs Manager, Community & Housing

P V Senior Service Manager, CAFCASS

SV Head Teacher Primary School ‘Rep of Governing Body of a Maintained School

SV Special School

SV Maintained secondary school

SV Representative of the proprietor of a city technology college, a city college for technology or the arts, or  
an Academy – vacant

SV Independent Sector School – vacant at Jan 2015

CV CP Officer, Merton Priory Homes

PO Merton Council Lead Member Children’s Services Non-voting

SA Designated Doctor for Child Protection, Merton CCG Non-voting

SA Designated Nurse Safeguarding, Merton Clinical Commissioning Group Non-voting

SA Principal Social Worker Non-voting

P V Consultant Child and Adolescent Psychiatrist, SW London & St George’s 

A Joint Head of HR Business Partnerships Non-voting

A Service Manager, Policy, Planning and Performance Non-voting

BS MSCB Board Development Manager Non-voting

BS MSCB Administrator/s Non-voting

A MSCB Training Officer Non-voting

Page 70



Merton Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 63

Contact Details

Merton Safeguarding Children Board
12th Floor, Civic Centre
London Road
Morden
SM4 5DX
 
Tel: 020 8545 4866
 
Email: mertonlscb@merton.gov.uk

Page 71



Page 72



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Exempt or confidential report
The following paragraph of Part 4b Section 10 of the constitution applies in respect of 
information within the appendices of this report and the appendices are therefore 
exempt from publication:
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual 

Members and officers are advised not to disclose the contents of the appendices

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 7th November 2018
Wards: All wards

Subject:  Provision of School Places

Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families 
Department

Lead member: Cllr Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, Cabinet Member for Education
Contact officer: Tom Procter, Head of Contracts and School Organisation

Recommendations
For Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel to comment and note the 
current position regarding the provision and admissions to primary, secondary and special 
school places outlined in this report.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel on the latest position with regard to supply and demand of school 
places, and in particular to address specific requests from a member of this 
committee regarding the availability of secondary school places. The last similar 
report to this committee was on 11 October 2016

1.2 In separate sections the report considers the matters in relation to mainstream 
primary and secondary school places, and special school places.

1.3 It should be noted that roll data for 2018/19 is not available until the October census 
has been data cleansed so figures for the current year are forecasts or based on 

Page 83



schools admissions information. There will therefore be some minor variation 
compared to when official figures are released.

2 DETAILS

2.1 Merton in its role as the Local Authority seeks:
 To provide the highest standards of education and ensure all our schools are 

good or outstanding;
 Results for attainment and progress which compare with the best in London;
 To ensure that all children and young people enjoy learning opportunities, feel 

rewarded by their experience and achieve their full potential;
 Provision which contributes to the broader well-being of children and families
 Provision which is a positive choice for families

2.2 The following sections consider the school provision in the sectors of mainstream 
primary, mainstream secondary, and special provision
 
Primary school places

2.3 With regard to primary school places, the council experienced an exceptional 
increase in demand for places, which required a substantial increase in reception 
year (first year of primary school) places from 2008 to 2015. In 2017/18 there were 
more pupils in Merton primary schools than there had been for more than a 
generation – a rise of 4,367 pupils on roll (34%) compared to 11 years previously.

2.4 However, in 2016/17 there started to be a drop in demand for reception year places 
that has continued to 2018/19. The GLA forecast is for the reception year roll to now 
be relatively stable for the forthcoming years, but as the lower numbers flow through 
all year groups there is forecast to be some 1,300 fewer pupils in primary school 
than at the peak, though still 3,000 more than in 2006/07. Uncertainty over migration 
patterns and future live births will also impact on demand.

2.5 The table below shows this actual and forecast rise and fall in reception year (the 
first year of primary school) and in total for primary schools. The full table for all year 
groups is in appendix 1.

Yr R Total
2006/07          1,879          12,683 
2007/08          1,937          12,803 
2008/09          2,140          13,102 
2009/10          2,229          13,488 
2010/11          2,285          13,920 
2011/12          2,651          14,839 
2012/13          2,599          15,479 
2013/14          2,547          15,930 
2014/15          2,627          16,557 
2015/16          2,628          16,909 

Page 84



2016/17          2,524          17,048 
2017/18          2,437          17,050 

2018/19 *          2,374          16,764 
2019/20 *          2,376          16,551 
2020/21 *          2,346          16,281 
2021/22 *          2,321          15,994 
2022/23 *          2,322          15,747 

 * is forecast figures. These are the council’s official school roll forecasts submitted to the DfE in July 2018

2.6 The recent fall in the primary school roll at a time of financial constraint has the 
potential to cause budget issues for a number of primary schools so some schools 
have reduced their admission numbers by a multiple of 30 to ensure that they have 
largely full classes. Because the increase in demand was catered for by expansion 
of existing schools, with the exception of one Free School that was delivered after 
the council’s required expansions, schools are of a larger size so are more equipped 
to deal with the reduction in demand than previously.

2.7 There are still some heavily oversubscribed primary schools in Merton, with six 
school still only offering places to those living less than 600 metres distance on offer 
day for September 2018.
 
Secondary school places

Level of demand

2.8 With the substantial increase in demand for primary school places starting in 2008, 
it follows that the increase in demand for year 7 (the start of secondary school) 
places has followed seven years later. Following the significant increase in demand 
for reception year places in September 2011, the biggest increase for year 7 places 
has been, as expected, in September 2018.

2.9 However, the pattern of demand for Merton secondary schools is very different with 
the families willing to travel much greater distances and parental preference 
patterns being more significant.

2.10 For many years Merton has been a net ‘exporter’ of pupils i.e. more Merton resident 
children travel to out of the borough state schools for their secondary schooling than 
the other way around, or ‘imported’. Since the level of ‘exports’ and ‘imports’ in the 
primary sector is relatively minor (though Merton is a slight ‘importer), the simplest 
way to track this is by looking at the transfer rate from the total year 6 roll in Merton 
state funded primary schools to the following year 7 in Merton state funded 
secondary schools.

2.11 Standards in Merton secondary schools have risen significantly over the last 10 
years, and the DfE figures in late 2017 showed that they were the best in the country 
for progress from primary school to the end of Key Stage 4 (GCSE year).

Page 85



2.12 However, in the five years from 2010 to 2015 a number of popular schools close to 
Merton’s borders increased their capacity prior to the increase in the relevant age 
child population. This led to the year 6 to year 7 transfer rate falling by some 15%. 
The council therefore reduced its previous secondary school expansion plans to 
only 8 forms of entry (FE – 1 FE is a year group of 30 pupils) – 2FE through the 
expansion of Harris Academy Merton and 6 FE through Harris Academy 
Wimbledon, opened in September 2018 on a temporary site. 

2.13 The council’s secondary school expansion strategy and rationale for facilitating the 
new school in South Wimbledon was documented in the 11 October 2016 Children 
and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel paper.
 

2.14 The table below shows the actual and forecast roll based on the council’s year 6 to 
7 transfer remaining stable over the next few years, and also shows the GLA 
forecast which, to be accurate, would necessitate a change back to levels not seen 
since the late 2000s. Since the pupil retention model shows that numbers flowing 
through from year 6 are forecast to be very stable over the next 4-5 years, officers 
are not implementing any further secondary school expansion plans.  However, 
there is currently provision in the council’s five year capital programme in case the 
position changes. 

Pupil 
retention

Pupil 
retention

Year Year 7 
Total school 
Yrs 7-11

Year 6 to 7 
transfer

2006/07            1,531          7,907 88.5%
2007/08            1,518          7,849 89.7%
2008/09            1,583          7,818 88.2%
2009/10            1,544          7,857 87.6%
2010/11            1,502          7,758 85.5%
2011/12            1,457          7,724 84.5%
2012/13            1,454          7,573 79.2%
2013/14            1,465          7,399 80.6%
2014/15            1,492          7,347 80.7%
2015/16            1,578          7,381 78.0%
2016/17            1,556          7,408 74.8% GLA forecast 
2017/18            1,569          7,523 74.3% Year 7 Yrs 7-11

2018/19 *            1,785          7,925 75.0%         1,774         7,887 
2019/20 *            1,762          8,226 74.8%         1,840         8,231 
2020/21 *            1,728          8,390 74.8%         1,877         8,493 
2021/22 *            1,741          8,585 74.8%         1,920         8,824 

2022/23 *            1,740          8,756 74.8%         1,941         9,170 
2023/24 *            1,659          8,630 74.8%         1,960         9,349 
2024/25 *            1,608          8,477 74.8%         1,885         9,394 

        * is forecast figures
 

Page 86



Review of secondary school admissions for September 2018 entry

2.15 September 2018 saw the largest single year increase in demand for year 7 places 
in over a generation with 2316 Merton resident children receiving a school place 
offer on offer day (1 April 2018), 263 more than the previous year (12.8% increase).

2.16 The position was slightly complicated as the new school Harris Academy 
Wimbledon was not in the co-ordinated arrangements in the first year, but by the 
end of April, with the extra places from Harris Wimbledon, all children received a 
‘reasonable’ offer of a school place – this is defined as either being within 2 miles 
or 45 minutes public transport journey from their home. 

2.17 The offer day figures were as follows: 

Percentage allocations 2018 2017 2016 2015

Pecentage receiving first 
preference offer 59.90% 65.20% 64.86% 62.76%
Percentage receiving a 1st to 3rd 
pref offer 84.30% 88.00% 88.58% 88.35%

  Note in 2018 Harris Wimbledon was not in co-ordination so is not reflected in the above figures

2.18 Figures in the London region are always the lowest in the country due to the wide 
variety of schools within travelling distance, and Merton’s figures are particularly 
challenged by the high number of over-subscribed schools in the area, including 
five fully selective schools in Sutton, two in Kingston, and the majority of schools in 
Wandsworth being partially selective.

2.19 For the preparation of this paper officers have been asked about the current most 
important gaps / ‘matters in need of improvement’ with regard to admissions e.g. 
geographically within the Borough, and what is the current thinking on potential 
areas to consider addressing.

2.20 As outlined in paragraph 2.16, all residents received a reasonable offer of a 
secondary school place, and on the basis of our forecasts this will continue to be 
the case, but will be monitored.  However, this is not the same as residents all 
getting the same choice of school. Appendix 4 provides a summary of admissions 
criteria for each of the Merton secondary schools, together with allocation data for 
2018. Information is included for the new Harris Academy Wimbledon but it needs 
to be taken into account that this is the first year of opening, it is on a temporary site 
some 1 mile from the previous site, and for this year only it was not in admissions 
co-ordination i.e. families needed to apply directly to the school rather than as one 
of six preferences through the council’s School Admissions team

2.21 There is some differential in choice for residents in that four of Merton’s nine state 
funded secondary schools are single sex. Ursuline and Wimbledon College are 
Catholic Schools and so like most church schools have an admissions policy based 
on church attendance. They therefore cover a wide geographic area but generally 
for Catholics only. Rutlish and Ricards Lodge have an admissions policy that, after 

Page 87



LAC (Looked after Children), SEN etc. and siblings, is based on distance from the 
school. The furthest offer day distance for these schools on 2018 offer day was 
2100 metres and 2506 metres respectively, increasing to 2565 metres and 3668 
metres respectively by the autumn.

2.22 Due to the schools being some 2200 metres apart there is inevitably more choice 
for a Merton single sex school depending on where you live in the borough i.e. more 
choice for a girls’ school to the north, and for a boys’ school towards the south. 

2.23 Appendix 3 shows the range of schools that received a preference from Merton 
residents and lists the 13 schools where more than 25 places were allocated to 
Merton residents on 2018 offer day.

Special school places

2.24 LB Merton caters for pupils with SEN (Special Educational needs) through 
mainstream schools, specialist provision within mainstream schools (“additional 
resourced provision”), special schools, and use of independent provision. For 
children with an EHCP (Education, Health and Care Plan which replaced SEN 
statements) there are three maintained special schools; in addition three primary 
and three secondary schools provide specialist provision for pupils with ASD 
(autistic spectrum disorders) and SCLN (Speech, language and communication 
needs. There is also a Pupil Referral Unit (SMART centre) which operates under 
the same management as Melrose, our special school for pupils with SEMH (Social, 
emotional and mental health).

2.25 When there is not a suitable placement for a child with an EHCP within the state 
funded sector the council is financially responsible for commissioning suitable 
specialist placements within the Independent sector.

2.26 The growth in demand for SEN placements has received national attention recently, 
and the problem is significant in Merton. The growth in EHCPs and the specialist 
placements by school type over the past 6 years is shown in the table below.

No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % No. %
Mainstream School (inc. 
Academies) 436 47% 451 46% 470 45% 456 44% 423 39% 432 34% 526 35%

State Funded Special School 287 31% 327 33% 339 33% 338 32% 354 33% 386 31% 415 28%
Independent/Non-Maintained 
Provision (including Other 
Independent Special Schools)

96 10% 91 9% 110 11% 119 11% 145 13% 178 14% 217 15%

ARP (Additional Resourced 
Provision) 92 10% 101 10% 109 10% 113 11% 108 10% 137 11% 116 8%

Further Education 0 0% 1 0% 1 0% 0 0% 20 2% 97 8% 164 11%
Early Years (inc. Private & 
Voluntary Settings) 10 1% 8 1% 2 0% 4 0% 5 0% 2 0% 7 0%

Other (including children 
Educated at Home, Pupil 
Referral Units and Secure 
Units)

7 1% 9 1% 8 1% 15 1% 23 2% 32 3% 41 3%

Total 928 100% 988 100% 1039 100% 1045 100% 1078 100% 1264 100% 1486 100%

Jan 2018
(Statements 
and EHCPs)

Jan 2017
(Statements 
and EHCPs)Type of Provision

Jan 2012 
(Statements)

Jan 2013 
(Statements)

Jan 2014 
(Statements)

Jan 2015 
(Statements 
and EHCPs)

Jan 2016 
(Statements 
and EHCPs)

Page 88



 
2.27 164 (circa 30%) of the 558 increase is due to the council’s increased responsibility 

for young people in Further Education up to the age of 25, but there is also a general 
significant increase in demand at statutory school age.

2.28 The council has been active in seeking special school expansion in recent years, 
through a new site and then expansion of Perseid School, additional Resourced 
Provision (ARP) at Hatfeild, and the previous and present expansion of Cricket 
Green School.  However, this has not stemmed our increased reliance on 
Independent Schools and as part of the review of the capital programme for 2019 
and beyond, the funding of further expansion proposals will be considered.

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

3.1 This paper is for briefing purposes rather than providing any options for decision.

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

4.1 No new decisions are set out in this paper

5 TIMETABLE

5.1 No firm proposals are set for a timetable.

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

Revenue 

6.1 The increase in demand for specialist provision for SEND children with EHCPs has 
resulted in costs through the National High Needs Funding Formula contributing to 
a significant overspend in the Dedicated School Grant.

6.2 The increased numbers outlined above has also resulted in a significantly increased 
number of requests for transport for children with EHCP which is leading to 
corresponding overspends in the council’s general fund

Capital

6.3 All school expansions outlined in this paper have been approved in the council’s 
capital programme or will be considered as part of the review of the council’s budget 
for 2019/20 and beyond.

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The council has a duty under section 14 of the Education Act 1996 to secure that 
sufficient schools for providing primary and secondary education are available for 
its area. The Act provides that schools available for an area shall not be regarded 

Page 89



as sufficient unless they are sufficient in number, character and equipment to 
provide for all pupils the opportunity of appropriate education. The local authority 
must exercise its functions under section 14 with a view to securing, diversity in the 
provision of schools, and increasing opportunities for parental choice. The Local 
Authority must in particular have regard to: (a) the need for securing that primary 
and secondary education are provided in separate schools; (b) the need for 
securing that special educational provision is made for pupils who have special 
educational needs; and (c) the expediency of securing the provision of boarding 
accommodation (in boarding schools or otherwise) for pupils for whom education 
as boarders is considered by their parents and the authority to be desirable. A local 
authority is required to respond to any parental representations on the exercise of 
its duty under section 14. 

7.2 Since February 2012 under an amendment introduced by the Education Act 2011 
there has been a presumption that new publicly funded schools will be academies. 

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS

8.1 No specific implications from this report

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

9.1 No specific implications from this report

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 No specific implications from this report

11 APPENDICES – the following documents are to be published with this report and 
form part of the report.  They include Information which is likely to reveal the identity 
of any individual and are therefore exempt from publication under Part 4b Section 
10 of the council’s constitution:

Appendix 1 - School roll forecasts
Appendix 2 - Preference and allocations data with PANs over past 3 years for 
Merton secondary schools  (issues of Harris)
Appendix 3 - Merton Residents allocations to in and out of borough secondary 
schools, September 2018
Appendix 4 - Summary of admissions criteria for each of the Borough Secondary 
Schools, together with allocation data for 2018
Appendix 5- Total number pupils for each of the secondary and primary schools 
2015-2018 by PA 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel 11 October 2016 paper

Page 90



Page 1 of 4

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 7th November 2018
Wards: All wards

Subject:  Departmental Update Report November 2018

Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families 
Department

Lead member: Cllr Kelly Braund, Cabinet Member for Children Services
Cllr Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, Cabinet Member for Education

Contact officer: Mark Gwynne, Interim Head of Policy, Planning and Performance

Recommendations: 
A.     Members of the panel to discuss and comment on the contents of the report. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report provides members of the panel with information on key developments not 
covered elsewhere on the agenda and affecting the Children, Schools and Families 
Department since the panel’s last meeting in October 2018.  It focusses on those aspects 
of particular relevance to the department and those where the Panel expressed an 
interest in receiving regular updates.

2 DETAILS

2.1 Harris Academy Wimbledon – The school opened as planned in Whatley Avenue 
SW20 in September 2018 and is fully subscribed.  The building is suitable for two years 
before the permanent site in South Wimbledon will be required. The planning application 
for the permanent site is now expected to be considered at the planning applications 
committee on 15th November 2018.  The delay by a month was due to the need to for an 
additional representation period to reflect the fact that Education and Skill’s Funding 
Agency’s design consultant modified the drawings slightly.  The project is still on target 
for the permanent school to be completed for September 2020.

2.2 Cricket Green School – Construction works have now commenced for this school 
expansion to provide much needed additional SEN places. Planning permission has 
been received and Cabinet has agreed to commence works to expand the school, with 
works expected to be completed September 2019 to enable the much needed extra SEN 
places to be provided for the start of the school year.

2.3 School Ofsted Inspections – The following inspection reports have been published 
during October: Wimbledon Park moving from “Outstanding” to “Requires Improvement” 
and Morden Primary which has retained its “Good” rating.  This means that our results 
for our schools are:

 100% of secondary schools being rated as “Good” or “Outstanding”

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 4

 91% of all schools now rated as “Good” or better; and 
 94% of our pupils are educated in schools rated as “Good” or better.

2.4 Children’s Centres – Increasing the take up of 2 year places continues to remain a 
priority, and this is a key area of focus in the newly established and shared Early Years 
Hub across Merton and Wandsworth.  The Wandle Early Years Hub is funded by the 
Greater London Authority and aims to provide opportunities for early years settings, local 
authorities and other partners to work together to improve outcomes for children by: 
increasing take up of free early education for 2-year-olds; improving the quality of early 
years provision; and promoting early years as a career choice.  Included in the work of 
the Hub, Merton’s Open College Network Early Years College has successfully achieved 
level 3 accreditation for the writing of a “Working with Children with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND)” training programme.  This comprises of 4 units aimed at 
Early Year practitioners to improve their knowledge, skill and understanding of working 
with children aged 0-5 with a range of SEND.  The first cohort of learners will start in 
November, and by developing the confidence and skills of staff working in settings it is 
anticipated more children with SEND will take up their 2 year old funded place.  External 
evaluation of the Hub activity is being carried out, and feedback will be shared once 
published. 

2.5 On 17th October the Mayor of London Sadiq Khan, along with the Leader of the Council 
Steven Alambritis and Cabinet Member for Children’s Services Kelly Braund, visited the 
Acacia Pre-School and the Acacia Children’s Centre to launch the Mayor’s Health 
Inequalities Strategy and the Healthy Early Years London (HEYL) programme. Both the 
Preschool and the Children’s Centre have achieved the First Steps Award of the HEYL 
programme and  are on their way to completing their Bronze Award submission. All 
Ofsted registered early years settings in London can sign up to the programme and are 
supported to achieve their awards through their council’s Early Years’ service in 
partnership with Public Health.  To date Merton has a total of 20 settings signed up, all 
of whom are working to improve the health and welling outcomes of young children 
across the borough. HEYL helps to reduce health inequalities by supporting a healthy 
start to life across themes that include healthy eating, oral and physical health and early 
cognitive development, and compliments the Early Years Foundation Stage.

2.6 By the end of the second quarter, 533 families had taken up one of the Early Learning 
Together Programmes, Supporting Children’s Social and Communication Programme or 
a Parenting Programme. Feedback from service users remains positive and of the 
families who completed the programmes, reported outcomes remain high. 

Page 92



Page 3 of 4

2.7 Work to support the early years’ education and childcare sector has included the 
production of an online business management cost tool (funded by a grant from the DFE), 
delivery of training programmes, on site advisory visits and the roll out of the new 
“Practice in Action Programmes”.  Feedback from these new courses is positive, 
including: “I really enjoyed this course it was fun and I'm sure the children will think so 
too”; “Excellent course, would highly recommend”; and “Came away a lot more confident 
in implementing the activities with children in my setting”.  The recent survey to the early 
year’s sector shows a continued high rating of the service, and on an ongoing 
requirement to continue to provide good quality training and CPD opportunities across 
the sector.

2.8 Merton Safeguarding Children Board (MSCB) – The MSCB is continuing work on 
designing the new partnership arrangements. The MSCB is in discussion with Statutory 
Partners (the Local Authority, the CCG and the Police) and relevant agencies regarding 
the future partnership and the partnership agreement, which is a statutory requirement.  
The MSCB is also working on establishing an improved multi-agency dataset to ensure 
effective management of the partnership and contributions from the key agencies 
involved.  These should be ready to be implemented from April 2019.  A full update on 
MSCB progress and the annual report is included as a separate item for this meeting.

2.9 Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC) – Current progress demonstrates that there 
are 33 open cases with 59 parents and 62 children, of which 16 children are aged 0-6 
months and a high proportion of young people are aged 16yrs.  These children and young 
people are predominantly white British.  There have been 8 pre-proceedings cases, and 
as a result, the service will produce a protocol on the process for pre-proceedings cases.  
As of October 6 cases have been completed of which 4 have concluded with children 
returning home.  This is a very good outcome at this early stage of the service.  

2.10 Social Impact Bond (SIB) – The launch event took place on 20th September with many 
potential boroughs attending.  Paul Angeli gave a presentation on the impact of the Multi 
Systemic Therapy (MST) and Functional Family Therapy (FFT) services on social care, 
noting that Merton have reached their referral numbers for this year.  This led to many 
boroughs wanting to learn from the best practice models in Merton.  The current Panel 
is working well and will soon migrate to an ‘edge of care’ panel ensuring all services are 
discussed to identify a holistic approach to meeting the needs of our most vulnerable 
families. In Merton some cases have now completed their interventions and the young 
people have successfully stayed out of care.  This has led to outcome payments being 
generated in line with the SIB ‘payment by results’ model.

2.11 Inspection Update – Preparations for upcoming inspections are in hand including for 
the Youth Offending and SEND inspections for which continued progress is being made.  
Main developments since the last meeting are summarised below:
 Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) – following the Annual 

Engagement Meeting with the lead inspector it has been proposed that the topic for 
the focussed visit is the ‘Front Door’ (MASH and First Response).  

3. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
3.1 No specific implications from this report. 

4. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
4.1 No specific implications from this report. 

Page 93



Page 4 of 4

5. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

5.1 No specific implications from this report 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
6.1 No specific implications from this report. 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
7.1 No specific implications from this report.

8. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

8.1 None

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1 None

Page 94



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel - Performance Index 2018/19

Merton 

2017/18

Merton 

2016/17
England London Apr-18 May-18

Jun-18 / 

Q1
Jul-18 Aug-18

Sep-18 / 

Q2
Oct-18 Nov-18

Dec-18 / 

Q3
Jan-19 Feb-19

Mar-19 / 

Q4
Notes

Assessments 

1
Number of Common and Shared Assessments undertaken 

(CASAs) 
Quarterly

Not a target 

measure 
171 422

No benchmarking 

available

No benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
n/a n/a

Quarterly (Time lag in collating 

CASAs from partner agencies)  

YTD

2 % of Single Assessments authorised within the statutory 45 days Monthly 93% 89% 91%
83%

(2016/17)

82%

(2016/17)
Red

85%

(117/138)

78%

(251/320)

78%

(402/513)

79%
(559/712)

80%
(720/895)

81%
(743/922)

Year to Date

3
% of Education, Health and Care plans issued within statutory 20 

week timescale (new, including exceptions)
Monthly 55%

34%             

(Jan 2018)

19%             

(Jan 2017)

61.3%

(Jan 2018)

52.4%

(Jan 2018)
Green

63%

(45/72)

60%

(89/149)
Year to Date

Child protection

4 Child Protection Plans rate per 10,000 Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
41.7 27.2

43.3

(2016/17)

39.1

(2016/17)

Not a target 

measure 
41.9 39.6 37.4 34.9 36.8 37.9

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month

5 Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
196 197

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
197 186 176 164 173 178

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month

6 Number of family groups subject of Child protection plans Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
n/a n/a

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month

7
Average caseload of workers for Children subject of a Child 

Protection Plan (New)
Monthly New New New

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

New New New New New New

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month - to be 

defined

8 % of quorate attendance at child protection conferences Quarterly 95% n/a 89%
No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Green 99% 96% Quarterly 

9
% of reviews completed within timescale for Children with Child 

Protection Plans 
Monthly 96% n/a 99%

92%

(2016/17)

96%

(2016/17)
Red

96%

(190/197)

96%

(178/186)

93%

(164/176)

96%

(157/164)

96%

(166/173)

91%

(117/129)

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month 

10
% of Children subject of a CP Plan who had a CP visit within 

timescales in the month 
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 
n/a 94%

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 

77%

(152/197)

85%

(159/186)

90%

(158/176)

92%

(151/164)

92%

(160/173)

79%

(138/175)

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month 

11
% of Children that became the subject of a Child Protection Plan 

for the second or subsequent time 
Monthly 16% 13% 13%

19%

(2016/17)

15%

(2016/17)
Green

33%

(5/15)

22%

(8/37)

17%

(8/48)

16%

(11/67)

17%

(15/86)

16%

(16/101)
Year To Date (NI 65)

Looked After Children

12 Looked After Children rate per 10,000 Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
34

62

(2016-17)

50

(2016-17)

Not a target 

measure 
33.6 34.0 33.4 34.7 34.5 34.7

End of the month 

snapshot

13 Number of Looked After Children Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
158

72670

(2016-17)

9910

(2016-17)

Not a target 

measure 
158 160 157 163 162 163

End of the month 

snapshot

14 Number of UASC children and young people (PROPOSED) Monthly
Not a target 

measure 
New New

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
25 27 27 30 30 28

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month

15 Average caseload of workers for Looked After Children (New) Monthly New New New
No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

New New New New New New

Monthly - as at the end 

of the month - to be 

defined

16
Average number of weeks taken to complete Care proceedings 

against a national target of 26 weeks
Quarterly 26 weeks 31 weeks 25 weeks 31

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
32 weeks n/a Quarterly 

17
% of Looked After Children cases which were reviewed within 

required timescales 
Monthly 96% 88% 97% Not published Not published 86% 87% 88% 89% 90% 94% Year To Date (NI 66)

18
% of Looked After Children participating in their reviews in 

month
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 
99% 99%

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a Year to Date

19
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - number of 

moves (3 moves or more in the year)
Quarterly 11% 17% 16%

10%

(2016/17)

12%

(2016/17)
Green

1%

(1/157)

2%

(4/163)
Year To Date (NI 62)

20
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - length of 

placement (in care 2.5years, placement 2 years)
Quarterly 65% 69% 71%

70%

(2016/17)

69%

(2016/17)
Green

68%

(38/56)

66%

(42/64)

End of the month 

snapshot (NI 63)

21 % of Looked After Children placed with agency foster carers Quarterly 40% n/a 44%
No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Green

38%

(47/125)

40%

(50/126)
Quarterly 

22 Number of in-house foster carers recruited Quarterly 15 11 15
No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Green 3 5 Year to Date

Merton 2017/18 performance 

No. Performance Indicators BRAG rating 
Target 

2018/19

Benchmarking and trend

Frequency

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 8



Merton 

2017/18

Merton 

2016/17
England London Apr-18 May-18

Jun-18 / 

Q1
Jul-18 Aug-18

Sep-18 / 

Q2
Oct-18 Nov-18

Dec-18 / 

Q3
Jan-19 Feb-19

Mar-19 / 

Q4
Notes

Merton 2017/18 performance 

No. Performance Indicators BRAG rating 
Target 

2018/19

Benchmarking and trend

Frequency

23
Number of Looked After Children who were adopted and 

agency Special Guardianship Orders granted 
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 
12 17

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
0 0 5 6 6 6 Year to Date

Childrens Centres and Schools

24

% of total 0-5 year estimated Census 2011  population from 

areas of deprivation (IDACI 30%) whose families have accessed 

children's centre services

Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
58% 68%

89% (31 March 

2017)

93% (31 March 

2017)

Not a target 

measure 

22%
(1057/4785)

35%
(1690/4785)

Year to Date

Cumulates (Target 19% per 

quarter)

25
% outcome of School Ofsted inspections good or outstanding 

(overall effectiveness)
Quarterly 91% 93% 91%

89% (31 August 

2017)

94% (31 August 

2017)
Green

91%

(51/56)

91%

(51/56)

Year to Date. National and 

London Comparitors as at 

31/08/2017.

26
Number of Primary permanent exclusions  (Number YTD 

Academic year)
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 

1

(AY 2016/17)

0

(AY 2015/16)

1145 (AY 

2015/16)

105(AY 

2015/16)

Not a target 

measure 
0 1 1 1 1 0

August End of Acad. Yr. YTD 

(August data interim until 

November).  September start of 

the new Acad. Yr. 

27
Number of Secondary permanent exclusions (Number YTD 

Academic year)
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 

19

(AY 2016/17)

17

(AY 2015/16)

5445 (AY 

2015/16)

805(AY 

2015/16)

Not a target 

measure 
5 6 6 7 7 0

August End of Acad. Yr. YTD.  

September start of the new 

Acad. Yr.

28
Secondary persistent absenteeism (10% or more sessions 

missed)
Annual

Not a target 

measure 

8.4%

(AY 2016/17)

12%

(AY 2015/16)

13.1%  (AY 

2015/16)

11.7%  (AY 

2015/16)

Not a target 

measure 

Annual Measure

6 half-terms DfE Published SFR 

maintained and academies

29 % of Reception year surplus places Annual Range
7.7%

(AY 2016/17)

3.5

(AY 2015/16)

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Annual measure

30 % of Secondary school (Year 7) surplus places Annual Range
9.6%

(AY 2016/17)

6.5%

(AY 2015/16)

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Annual measure

Young People and Services 

31 Youth service participation rate Annual 1800 1,967 NRTP
No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Annual Measure

32
% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) not in education, employment or 

training (NEET) 
Monthly 3.0% 1.6% (Q4) 1.5% (Q4) 2.8%

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Green

1.5%
(58/3883)

1.5%
(60/3883)

1.4%
(56/3885)

1.4%
(55/3877)

1.4%
(56/3874)

n/a
Monthly (totals are 

adjusted) - reported a 

month in arrears

33
% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) education, employment or training 

status ‘not known’ 
Monthly

Not a target 

measure 
0.9% (Q4) 1.5% (Q4) 3.2%

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

1.6%
(61/3883)

1.4%
(53/3883)

1.4%
(55/3885)

1.7%
(67/3877)

1.7%
(67/3874)

n/a
Monthly (totals are 

adjusted) - reported a 

month in arrears

34
Number of First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth Justice 

System aged 10-17 
Monthly 50 54 63

326.90 rate per 

100,000 (2016)

405.50 rate per 

100,000 (2016)
Green 12 21 Year to Date

35
Rate of proven re-offending by young people in the youth 

justice system 
Quarterly

Not a target 

measure 
0.50 0.55 1.04
(2013) 1.10
(2013)

Not a target 

measure 

Binary rate 24%

Reoffences: 0.97 

(whole cohort)

Binary Rate:  

65.4% 

Reoffences: 2.42 

(whole cohort)

Quarterly (NI 19)

36 TF: Number of Families engaged for Expanded Programme Quarterly
Not a target 

measure 
320 320

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

Not a target 

measure 
1001 1096 Quarterly

37
% of commissioned services for which quarterly  monitoring was 

completed 
Quarterly 100% 100% 100%

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available

No relevant 

benchmarking 

available
Green 100% 100%

Quarterly

 (Time lag in collating from 

partner agencies) 

38 % agency social workers (New) Quarterly New 23.1% 25.7% 15.8% (2017) 26.5% (2017) Green 17% 17%
Quarterly

 (Aligned with HR reporting) 

P
age 96



Page 1 of 2

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 7th November 2018
Wards: All wards

Subject:  Performance Report October 2018

Lead officer: Rachael Wardell, Director of Children, Schools and Families 
Department

Lead member: Cllr Kelly Braund, Cabinet Member for Children Services
Cllr Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, Cabinet Member for Education

Contact officer: Mark Gwynne, Interim Head of Policy, Planning and Performance

Recommendations: 
A. Members of the panel note the contents of the performance report and discuss current 

performance and the changes proposed to the scrutiny performance framework by the 
panel’s performance leads.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report provides members of the panel with performance information to the end of 
September 2018 along with quarterly performance measures where available. 

2 DETAILS

2.1 Performance Highlights

2.2 Work continues with re-establishing performance reporting following implementation of 
Mosaic.  The performance report attached demonstrates further progress made in this 
regard and the few areas which remain a challenge.  The areas in which we are 
currently unable to report performance remain as last month which are highlighted 
within the report and summarised below:

 1: Common and Shared Assessments – this indicator is not currently captured 
within Mosaic and has a revised approach for which new performance 
measurement processes need to be established. 

 6: Number of family groups subject to child protection plans – this is not currently 
captured within Mosaic, but is due to be incorporated early in 2019 with the 
introduction of group working upgrades within the system.  At this point, reports 
will be developed to enable reporting through Mosaic.

 8: Quorate attendance at child protection conferences – again, this is not able to 
be reported through Mosaic, but records within the service area enable its 
reporting.

2.3 Performance indicators currently presenting a challenge are:
 % of Single Assessments authorised within the statutory 45 days – performance 

continues to improve, but is still short of target.  Issues around sign off of 

Page 97



Page 2 of 2

worksteps within Mosaic are being explored which is anticipated to improve 
performance. 

 Percentage of reviews completed within timescale for Children with Child 
Protection Plans – this shows that 12 have not been authorised within the 
appropriate timescales so these are being investigated to determine if this is a 
recording issue.

2.4 Performance indicators currently performing particularly well are:
 91% of schools Ofsted inspections rated as “Good” or “Outstanding”

2.5 Following changes agreed at the last some data has been added for new performance 
measures, but due to the short gap between meetings, not all data has yet been 
compiled and therefore will feed into the next report as definitions are confirmed and 
data collection / ratification processes established.

3. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
3.1 No specific implications from this report. 

4. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
4.1 No specific implications from this report. 

5. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

5.1 No specific implications from this report 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
6.1 No specific implications from this report. 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
7.1 No specific implications from this report.

8. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

8.1 Appendix 1 – Performance Report

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1 None

Page 98



Children and Young People Work Programme 
2018/19
This table sets out the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel work programme for 2018/19; the items listed 
were agreed by the Panel at its meeting on 27June 2018. This work programme will be considered at every meeting of the 
Panel to enable it to respond to issues of concern and incorporate reviews or to comment on pre-decision items ahead of their 
consideration by Cabinet/Council.

The work programme table shows items on a meeting-by-meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre-decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended 
outcomes.

Chair: Cllr Sally Kenny
Vice-chair: Cllr Edward Gretton

Scrutiny Support

For further information on the work programme of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel please contact: - 
Stella Akintan, Scrutiny Officer
Tel: 020 8545 3390; Email: stella.akintan@merton.gov.uk

For more information about overview and scrutiny at LB Merton, please visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 9



Meeting date: 27 June 2018 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 19 June 2018) COMPLETE
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

POSSIBLE external 
witnesses/visits and 
questioning guidance 
(TBC)

Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Kelly Braund)

Children, schools 
and families 
glossary

A glossary of acronyms commonly used within the 
remit of the Children, Schools and Families 
Department will be provided.

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

Briefing for new 
members: 
Education, Health 
and Care Plans

To allow the Panel to understand EHCPs to continue 
to monitor performance in this area. 

 Jane McSherry, 
Assistant Director 
of Education

 Karla Finikin, 
Service Manager – 
SEN & Disabilities 
Integrated Service

Performance 
monitoring 

 Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring; and

 Selection of a Panel Member to act as a lead on 
performance monitoring.

Mark Gwynne, Interim 
Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 
Panel members. 

Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

P
age 100



Routes into 
employment for 
vulnerable 
cohorts task 
group – 
monitoring the 
implementation of 
the 
recommendations

The Panel will take an update on what has been 
achieved in delivering the task group’s 
recommendations.

 Sara Williams, 
Programme 
Manager Economy, 
futureMerton

 Kim Brown, Head of 
Organisational 
Development &HR 
Strategy

 Keith Shipman, 
Social Inclusion 
Manager

 Dawn Jolley, Head 
of Commercial 
Services

Scrutiny review: 
user voice

Panel to consider how it can listen to the voices of 
children and young people so that these can inform its 
scrutiny of services.

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Agreeing the 
Panel’s work 
programme

To agree the Panel’s work programme and consider:
 a thematic approach to the work programme;
 appointing topic leads;
 getting the best from performance monitoring;
 the Panel’s use of task groups;
 opportunities for pre-decision scrutiny; and
 monitoring task group recommendations.

Cllr Sally Kenny, Panel 
chair, and Annette 
Wiles, Scrutiny Officer

Meeting date: 9 October 2018 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 1 October 2018) 
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

POSSIBLE external 
witnesses/visits and 
questioning guidance 
(TBC)

P
age 101



Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Kelly Braund)

Performance 
monitoring 

Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring.

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 
Panel members. 

Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

Pre-decision 
scrutiny: Regional 
Adoption Agency

Pre-decision scrutiny prior to Cabinet’s consideration 
in November of authorisation to enter into joint 
agreement with other local authorities for a Regional 
Adoption Agency. This is to discharge Merton’s 
statutory duties in respect of adoption (in line with DfE 
requirements to establish Regional Adoption Agencies 
across England).

Paul Angeli, Assistant 
Director, Children’s 
Services

Pre-decision 
scrutiny: Children 
and Young People 
Plan

This is the plan of the Merton Children’s Trust and 
details the how the partners operating the trust will 
work together to achieve its priorities.  This provides 
an opportunity for the Panel to undertake some pre-
decision scrutiny in the run up to the delivery of a new 
plan.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Mark Gwynne, 
Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

Progress 
monitoring: care 
leaver 
accommodation 

To monitor progress against the reference to Cabinet 
on care leaver accommodation made in partnership 
with the Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel in September 2017.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

P
age 102



reference  Mark Gwynne, 
Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

 Steve Langley, 
Head of Housing 
Need

Scrutiny review: 
Children and 
families voice 
framework 

For the Panel to take the annual report on children and 
families voice. To consider how the work already 
undertaken to listen to children and families will inform 
the work of the Panel in scrutinising services.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Mark Gwynne, 
Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

Progress 
monitoring: 
Prevent task 
group 
recommendations

For the Panel to take an update on the progress that 
has been achieved in delivering the recommendations 
of this task group.

Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

Scrutiny review: 
children’s mental 
health

To receive and approve the terms of reference of the 
children’s mental health task group that will be 
operating throughout this year.

Stella Akintan, Scrutiny 
Officer

Work programme To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any new/additional pre-decision or 
other items that the Panel may wish to consider.

Meeting date: 7 November 2018 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 30 October 2018) 
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
POSSIBLE external 
witnesses/visits and 

P
age 103



lead questioning guidance 
(TBC)

Children, Schools 
and Families 
Budget/business 
planning (Round 
1)

To enable the Panel to comment on the budget 
proposals and any new or revised savings as part of 
the first round of the process for agreeing the 
Council’s budget and business plan.

The current budget required cost savings to the CSF 
department. This agenda item also provides the 
opportunity to understand if this objective is being 
realised and what impact this is having in terms of 
service provision.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Caroline Holland, 
Director of 
Corporate Services

 Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services, will provide 
training before the 
meeting giving a 
detailed guide to the 
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.  All 
members are 
encouraged to attend. 

 Scrutiny of finance – 
Councillor workbook 
(the Local Government 
Association).

Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Kelly Braund)

Merton 
Safeguarding 
Children Board 
annual report

An in-depth review of safeguarding for children and 
young people in Merton. This will focus on strengths 
and areas for review during the coming period.

Paul Angeli, Assistant 
Director Children’s' 
Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion

 Keith Makin, the 
Independent Chair of 
the Merton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board attending.

 Safeguarding Children 
– a practical guide for 
overview and scrutiny 
councillors (Local 
Government 

P
age 104

http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/scrutiny-finance-885.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/scrutiny-finance-885.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Safeguarding-Children-1.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Safeguarding-Children-1.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Safeguarding-Children-1.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Safeguarding-Children-1.pdf


Association and the 
Centre for Public 
Scrutiny)

Update report: 
school 
admissions

To provide a detailed statistical report providing a 
summary of school admissions in Merton and the 
resulting spare capacity in the system.

Tom Proctor, Service 
Management  
Contracts and School



Performance 
monitoring 

Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring.

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 
Panel members. 

Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

Work programme To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any new/additional pre-decision or 
other items that the Panel may wish to consider.

Meeting date: 16 January 2019 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 8 January 2019) 
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

Possible external 
witnesses/visits and 
questioning guidance

Children, Schools 
and Families 
Budget/business 
planning (Round 
2)

To enable the Panel to consider the Council’s budget 
and business plan proposals. Additionally to forward 
any comments/recommendations to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission to compile a scrutiny response 
on the Budget/Business Plan to Cabinet.

To include discussion of major projects identified in the 

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Caroline Holland, 
Director of 
Corporate Services

 Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services, will provide 
training before the 
November meeting 
giving a detailed guide 
to the Medium Term 

P
age 105



CSF draft service plans. Financial Strategy. All 
members are 
encouraged to attend. 

 Scrutiny of finance – 
Councillor workbook 
(the Local Government 
Association).

Harris Wimbledon 
update

To monitor progress of the delivery of the new school 
in line with the Panel’s reference to Cabinet in June 
2016: 1) ensuring the opening date for the new school 
is optimised to not destabilise existing Merton 
secondaries, 2) maximising the design to give pupils 
the same advantage enjoyed by children at other 
Merton secondaries, 3) supporting Merton Abbey 
Primary in agreeing shared use of the site, 4) 
protecting the financial interests of the borough during 
the development of the site, 5) sustaining the level of 
community rental space, and 6) ensuring the safety of 
pupils using the site.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Tom Proctor, 
Service 
Management  
Contracts and 
School 
Organisation

 Sir Daniel Moynihan, 
CEO and Sarah 
Musgrave, Projects 
Director, of the Harris 
Group, will attend the 
meeting to update 
members on the Harris 
Federation model for 
guaranteeing good and 
outstanding schools.

 A visit to Harris Merton 
is planned for Nov 
2018. This will be to 
see the expansion 
project and to hear 
from the provider of the 
new school first hand 
and in situ

 Free schools: 
challenges and 
opportunities for 
accountability: Centre 
for Public Scrutiny

Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 

P
age 106

http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/scrutiny-finance-885.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/scrutiny-finance-885.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Free-schools-challenges-and-opportunities-for-accountability.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Free-schools-challenges-and-opportunities-for-accountability.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Free-schools-challenges-and-opportunities-for-accountability.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Free-schools-challenges-and-opportunities-for-accountability.pdf


Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Kelly Braund)

Performance 
monitoring 

Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring.  

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

Routes into 
employment for 
vulnerable 
cohorts task 
group – 
monitoring the 
implementation of 
the 
recommendations

The Panel will take an update on what has been 
achieved in delivering the task group’s 
recommendations. At the meeting in June the Panel 
resolved to: 

 Receive information on the work currently being 
undertaken by Corum with Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers and to see the resulting strategy; 
and

 Data should be provided to the Panel in six months 
time including the number of apprenticeships by 
Directorate fulfilled by those within the target 
groups. Of these how many have started, stayed 
and left should be stated. Members requested that 
an appropriate representative from the HR team 
attend the meeting to explain these statistics.

To include information from the study with children in 
care that has been undertaken by Coram.

 Sara Williams, 
Programme 
Manager Economy, 
futureMerton

 Kim Brown, Head of 
Organisational 
Development &HR 
Strategy

 Keith Shipman, 
Social Inclusion 
Manager

 Dawn Jolley, Head 
of Commercial 
Services

 Mark Gwynne for 
the Coram research

Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 

Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

P
age 107



Panel members. 
Corporate 
parenting annual 
report

To review the care provided to those children for which 
the Council is the corporate parent.

Paul Angeli, Assistant 
Director, Children’s 
Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion

Kathy Bundred, Children’s 
Improvement Adviser for 
the Local Government 
Association to be invited 
to attend as an external 
expert on corporate 
parenting.

A visit by Panel members 
to the Children in Care 
Council is being 
scheduled. 

Progress 
monitoring: 
Prevent task 
group 
recommendations

For the Panel to take an update on the progress that 
has been achieved in delivering the recommendations 
of this task group.

Scrutiny Officer

Work programme To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any new/additional pre-decision or 
other items that the Panel may wish to consider.

Meeting date: 13 February 2018 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 5 February 2019)
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

Possible external 
witnesses/visits and 
questioning guidance

Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 

P
age 108



(Cllr Kelly Braund)
Health and 
wellbeing 
strategies for 
children and 
families

In partnership with public health, look at strategies to 
support the health and wellbeing of children and young 
people. To include consideration of the latest 
immunisation data.

Dagmar Zeuner, 
Director of Public 
Health

 Invite relevant 
members of the CCG 
and mental health 
teams

 Invite attendance by 
Central London 
Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust (CLCH) to 
provide oversight of the 
commissioned services 
it provides

 10 questions to ask if 
you’re scrutinising local 
immunisation services 
(Centre for Public 
Scrutiny)

 Best start in life: 
promoting good 
emotional wellbeing 
and mental health for 
children and young 
people (Local 
Government 
Association)

Scrutiny review: 
welfare benefit 
reforms

Members’ interest is in examining the impact welfare 
benefit reforms have had on children’s wellbeing and 
school performance. Initially, this will be started by 
understanding the number and profile of families who 
have been/will be impacted by the introduction of 
Universal Credit in Merton

David Keppler, Head of 
Revenue and Benefits

Briefing: EHCP To provide the Panel with information resulting from Karla Finikin, Head of 

P
age 109

http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-10-questions-Immunisations.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-10-questions-Immunisations.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfPS-10-questions-Immunisations.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/best-start-life-promoting-763.pdf


parental research the survey work with parents involved in the EHCP 
process.

SEND Integrated 
Service

Performance 
monitoring 

Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring.

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 
Panel members.

Rachaell Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

Work programme To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any new/additional pre-decision or 
other items that the Panel may wish to consider.

Meeting date: 13 March 2019 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 5 March 2019)
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

Possible external 
witnesses/visits and 
questioning guidance

Cabinet Member 
priorities

Update from the responsible Cabinet Member. 
Questions from the Panel.

Cabinet Members for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah) and 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Kelly Braund)

Schools annual 
report

Members receive the detailed annual schools report 
giving them the opportunity to focus on attainment for 
all key stages as well as at foundation stage and for 
post 16. The report also provides data on the 
attainment and achievement of key cohorts.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Jane McSherry, 
Assistant Director 
of Education

 Cathy Dawson, Head 
of Cricket Green and 
Chair of the School 
Effectiveness 
Partnership has been 
invited and has 
accepted to attend to 

P
age 110



provide a schools’ 
perspective on the 
report.

 Visits to Key Stage 5 
provision to happen 
before the meeting.

 Back to School – Ways 
for scrutiny to influence 
local education and 
support school leaders 
to improve results 
(Local Government 
Association and the 
Centre for Public 
Scrutiny)

Progress 
monitoring: care 
leaver 
accommodation 
reference

To monitor progress against the reference to Cabinet 
on care leaver accommodation made in partnership 
with the Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel in September 2017.

 Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and 
Families

 Mark Gwynne, 
Head of Policy, 
Planning and 
Performance

 Steve Langley, 
Head of Housing 
Need

Children’s mental 
health task group 
draft final report

The draft final report of the task group will be 
presented to the Panel for approval prior to be taken to 
Cabinet for its approval.

 Cllr Irons, Task 
group chair

 Scrutiny Officer
Performance 
monitoring 

Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring.

Mark Gwynne, Head of 
Policy, Planning and 
Performance

P
age 111

http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Back-to-School.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Back-to-School.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Back-to-School.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Back-to-School.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Back-to-School.pdf


Department 
update report

Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting. Questions will be taken from 
Panel members. 

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

Topic suggestions 
2017/2018

To seek topic suggestions form the Panel to inform 
discussions about the 2018/19 work programme

Scrutiny Officer

Proposal: 
transitions 
tracking study

For the Panel to consider the proposal for it to track a 
cohort of young people with Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCPs) and multiple needs through an 
anonymised case study approach to see how their 
various needs are met. To be finalised subject to the 
outcomes from the children’s mental health scrutiny 
task group review. 

Rachael Wardell, 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families

P
age 112


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Merton Safeguarding Board Annual Report
	MSCB Annual Report Appendix

	5 School Provision Report
	School Provision Report

	7 Department Update Report
	8 Performance Monitoring Report
	Performance Monitoring Report

	9 Work Programme 2018-19

